

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

Flexible Work Schedules, Virtual Work Programs, and Employee Productivity

Kelley Marie Campbell Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Kelley Marie Campbell

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gene Fusch, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Franz Gottleib, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Denise Land, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

Abstract

Flexible Work Schedules, Virtual Work Programs, and Employee Productivity

by

Kelley Marie Campbell

MBA, Albertus Magnus College, 2009 MSM, Albertus Magnus College, 2007 BS, Salve Regina University, 2000

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2015

Abstract

In a workplace marked by increasing change and competing commitments, business leaders require an increased understanding of alternative work programs. Utilizing spillover theory, motivator-hygiene theory, and adaptive structuration theory, this single case study was an exploration of the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The population consisted of 3 managerial business executives and 6 employees within a midwestern United States division of a global blood management solutions firm. The data collection process included a series of semistructured interviews, a focus group, and the assessment of company documentation. Methodological triangulation identified 5 emerging themes: program assessment and monitoring, standard set of virtual working hours, remote office setup, increased virtual communication, and promotion of quality of life. The transferability of this single case study remains with the reader and future researchers to determine. Future researchers may discover that the findings contribute to social change by better preparing organizations for success while simultaneously positioning individuals to attain optimum balance across life and work responsibilities.

Flexible Work Schedules, Virtual Work Programs, and Employee Productivity

by

Kelley Marie Campbell

MBA, Albertus Magnus College, 2009 MSM, Albertus Magnus College, 2007 BS, Salve Regina University, 2000

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2015

Dedication

I thank God for giving me the inspiration and strength to persevere through all circumstances over the course of this extremely challenging, yet rewarding journey.

Acknowledgments

I gratefully acknowledge Dr. Gene Fusch (chair) for his leadership and diligence over the course of this extensive journey. Your extraordinary guidance and support came at a time in this process when I needed it most. I sincerely appreciate your expeditious reviews, around the clock availability, and exceptional expertise. If I had a question, you had the answer and at lightning speed. I could not have asked for a better mentor.

I also acknowledge my additional committee members, Dr. Franz Gottleib (second committee chair) and Dr. Denise Land (university research reviewer) for the important role they played in helping me to successfully achieve the highest level of academia. I would also like to thank my husband, family, friends, coworkers, supervisors, and employer for their support.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
In-Depth Interview Questions (for Managers)	5
Focus Group Questions (for Employee Focus Group)	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Definition of Terms	8
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	9
Limitations	10
Delimitations	11
Significance of the Study	11
Contribution to Business Practice	12
Implications for Social Change	12
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	13
Work-Life Balance (WLB)	15
Spillover Theory	24
Flexible Work Schedules (FWS)	28

Virtual Work Programs (VWP)	33
Transition and Summary	42
Section 2: The Project	43
Purpose Statement	43
Role of the Researcher	43
Participants	46
Research Method and Design	48
Method	48
Research Design	50
Population and Sampling	53
Ethical Research	55
Data Collection	56
Instruments	56
Data Collection Technique	58
Data Organization Techniques	61
Data Analysis Technique	62
Reliability and Validity	65
Reliability	66
Validity	67
Transition and Summary	69
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	70
Overview of Study	70

Presentation of the Findings	72
Theme 1: Standard Set of Virtual Working Hours	72
Theme 2: Increased Virtual Communication	74
Theme 3: Establish Remote Office Setup	77
Theme 4: Program Assessment and Monitoring	79
Theme 5: Promote Quality of Life	85
Applications to Professional Practice	88
Implications for Social Change	90
Recommendations for Action	91
Recommendations for Further Study	93
Reflections	94
Summary and Study Conclusions	96
References	98
Appendix A: Certificate of Ethical Compliance	115
Appendix B: Invitation to Participate in Research Forms	116
Appendix C: Consent Forms	120
Background Information	120
Procedures	120
Voluntary Nature of the Study	121
Background Information	123
Procedures	123
Voluntary Nature of the Study	124

Appendix D: Interview Protocol	126
Appendix E: Interview Questions	128
In-Depth Interview Questions (for Managers)	128
Focus Group Questions (for Employee Focus Group)	129
Appendix F: Confidentiality Agreement	130

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Productivity affects the financial performance of an organization. Work–life balance and work–life satisfaction may have an impact on productivity in the workplace (Mušura, Korican, & Krajnovic, 2013). Business leaders continue to adopt nontraditional work–life benefit policies, including virtual work programs, in response to the financial savings realized and the unique flexibility these programs offer (Purvanova, 2014). The focus of this study was to explore the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Background of the Problem

Nicklin and McNall (2013) considered family and work the two most important domains within any individual's life. Achieving harmony between work and one's personal life is becoming increasingly important from both the employer and employee perspective (Mušura et al., 2013). The balance between these two domains is critical to any working person or business owner's life as a strong link exists between work–family balance and overall job satisfaction (Rocereto, Gupta, & Mosca, 2011). High rates of employee job satisfaction are associated with high commitment levels and elevated productivity (Rama Devi & Nagini, 2013). Competing work and family commitments have a negative effect on employees in the form of reduced productivity (Ajala, 2013). Work–life balance or quality of life programs pertain to the impact of work on people as well as on organizational effectiveness (Pawar, 2013).

The focus of this study was to explore the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Flexible work schedules rank high in

supporting employees' desires to manage competing responsibilities (Tuttle & Garr, 2012). Eng, Moore, Grunberg, Greenberg, and Sikora (2010) noted that employees who have more control over their work schedule and location generally experience less work—life conflict, greater job satisfaction, and increased productivity. Furthermore, the option to partake in flexible scheduling yields a more productive and engaging work environment (Wickramasinghe, 2012). Providing employees with the option to customize where and when they work can create positive opportunities for balance, both inside and outside of the workplace; however, business leaders must understand how flexible work models affect productivity within their organizations (Pawar, 2013).

Problem Statement

Work–life benefit programs affect employee job involvement, which can lead to job satisfaction and the overall performance of the organization (Pawar, 2013). Noonan and Glass (2012) indicated that 24% of employed Americans comprise the virtual workforce. The general business problem was that business leaders appear to have a lack of understanding of the effect work–life benefit programs have on employee productivity. The specific business problem was that some business leaders have limited strategies for virtual work programs and flexible work schedules.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, explorative single case study was to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The sample population consisted of three lower- to middle-level business executives and six employees within a midwestern United States division of a global

blood management solutions firm. This population was important to business leaders because it was representative of a global consulting firm that employs work—life benefit programs. The research design included the following data sources: (a) semistructured interviews, (b) focus group, and (c) company documentation. With work—life balance at the forefront of societal value, the implications for positive social change may include the potential to better empower employees to balance both personal and professional responsibilities while maximizing productivity in their professional positions.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I utilized a qualitative research methodology and an exploratory single case study design. Qualitative research develops an understanding of participants' views and experiences (Montero-Marín et al., 2013). Using a qualitative method met the needs of the study, whereas the quantitative method did not, as I sought to explore and capture employee experiences and personal viewpoints. Qualitative research allows the researcher to use interview questions that provide the interviewees with the ability to offer in-depth responses that the parameters of a quantitative method would not (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). In quantitative studies, researchers test preconceived hypotheses (Bishop & Lexchin, 2013; Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). In qualitative studies, researchers conduct data analyses of responses to open-ended questions, leading to the discovery of common emerging patterns and themes (Bishop & Lexchin, 2013; Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The intent of this study was not to use any measurement of variables or test objective theories. Therefore, using a quantitative or mixed method would not have met the goal.

I selected the single case study approach based upon the desire to obtain an invaluable and deep understanding of a small number of detailed experiences. Utilizing an exploratory single case study design met the need of the study based upon the research question. Baxter and Jack (2008) stated that, as a form of qualitative research, case studies can inform professional practice or evidence-informed decision making inclusive of policy realms. Prior to selecting the case study approach, I considered several other qualitative study designs, including ethnography, phenomenology, and narrative designs.

Ethnography research design is a form of inquiry targeted toward a specific cultural group over an extended period of time using primarily observational and interview data (Wägar, 2012). A mini-ethnographic study could have potentially satisfied the purpose of this study; however, the intent was not to study (observe) the day-to-day interactions and lives of a specific group. Another point for consideration was the difficulty of observing people working in a virtual environment. Phenomenological researchers focus on describing the details and meanings of personal experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenology partially met the research criteria related to the participants' lived experiences; however, the phenomenological research design was not the most effective design option for my study, given the desired in-depth inquiry of study participants working for one company. The narrative research design did not support the goal of the research, as I did not wish to study the lives of the participants, nor combine those views with personal life experiences to form a collaborative narrative (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000).

Research Question

The central research question was as follows: What strategies do business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs? Exploring this area assists senior business leaders in better defining how corporate policies may or may not be affecting employee productivity or influencing corporate revenue. From these conclusions and recommendations, business leaders may be able to make more effective, informed decisions regarding work—life balance policies.

I informed participants of the intent of this study and defined employee productivity as the ability to meet or exceed agreed upon job objectives with the current set of tools, technologies, and processes (Phipps, Prieto, & Ndinguri, 2013). Employing the semistructured format of the interviews allowed me to elicit further information from the study participants by asking follow-up questions based on each interviewee's initial answers. Researchers use probing questions to obtain the most relevant, accurate, and indepth information (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). If the study participant did not fully address the question presented or offered an inadequate answer, the use of probing questions stimulated additional, related responses. As a baseline, study participants answered the following questions.

In-Depth Interview Questions (for Managers)

- 1. What strategies have you used for implementing flexible work schedules?
- 2. What strategies have you used for implementing virtual work program policies?
- 3. What productivity challenges occurred when your employees began working

- flexible work schedules?
- 4. What productivity challenges occurred when your employees began working in a virtual environment?
- 5. What suggestions do you have for improving virtual work productivity?
- 6. What are your experiences on how flexible work schedule programs affect job satisfaction?
- 7. What are your experiences on how virtual work programs affect job satisfaction?
- 8. What are your experiences on flexible time—space workplace policies and blurred boundaries between work and home life?
- 9. What additional information would you like to add about flexible work schedules?
- 10. What additional information would you like to add about working virtually?

Focus Group Questions (for Employee Focus Group)

- 1. How has participating in a flexible work schedule negatively affected your productivity?
- 2. How has participating in a flexible work schedule positively affected your productivity?
- 3. How has participating in a virtual work program negatively affected your productivity?
- 4. How has participating in a virtual work program positively affected your productivity?

- 5. What have you experienced regarding flexible time—space workplace policies and blurred boundaries between work and home life?
- 6. What tools enable your productivity the least when working virtually?
- 7. What technical issues have you experienced while working virtually?
- 8. How have these technical issues affected your virtual work?
- 9. What additional information would you like to add about flexible work schedules?
- 10. What information would you like to add about working virtually?

Conceptual Framework

The spillover model served as the primary conceptual framework for this study. Pleck (1977) first mentioned the spillover model when he analyzed work–family role systems and the spillover into both domains (Naithani, 2010). Prior to the 1970s, society traditionally considered work and family domains separate entities; however, this notion has evolved into shared, interconnected platforms (Pleck, 1977). Hill, Ferris, and Märtinson (2013) further supported Pleck's notions and suggested that what supports (either negatively or positively) the conditions in the work microsystem will spill over into the family microsystem, and vice versa. Hill et al. noted that time, energy, organization, and behavior can be strong determinants of work–life balance. Hill et al. also argued that if work–family dynamics leave little room for flexibility, there is negative spillover in terms of time, energy, and behavior.

Employers who permit employees to integrate work and family responsibilities actively and efficiently produce positive spillover and a healthier, happier, more

productive working staff, resulting in maximized productivity (Hill et al., 2013). Spillover theory dictates that spillover can be either positive or negative (Hill et al., 2013). This explanation includes a multidimensional model, whereby work–family spillover can flow in variation as follows: (a) work-to-family positive spillover, (b) family-to-work negative spillover, (c) family-to-work positive spillover, and (d) work-to-family negative spillover.

Definition of Terms

Employee productivity: Phipps et al. (2013) defined employee productivity as employed workers' ability to meet or exceed agreed upon job tasks with the provided set of tools, technologies, and procedures.

Flexible work schedules (flextime or flexitime): Veeramani and Gayathri (2013) defined a flexible work schedule as a flexible system for permitting employees (within established limits) to control and redistribute their working hours around organizational demands.

Job satisfaction: Mofoluwake and Oluremi (2013) defined job satisfaction as an individual's attitudes and feelings about his or her employment.

Lower- to middle-level executive positions: Dimovski, Skerlavaj, and Man, (2010) defined lower- to middle-level executive positions as junior to intermediate job positions subordinate to senior-level management positions, including chief information officer, chief financial officer, and chief executive officer, within the hierarchical organization.

Telework: Goodman (2013) defined telework as a process of substituting information communicative technology for job travel, in contrast to the main office

location, including but not limited to any one of the following: (a) working out of the home, (b) working from a satellite office location, or (c) working via a telework center or a number of other job stations.

Virtual work: Mulki, Bardhi, Lassk, and Nanavaty-Dahl (2009) defined virtual work as employment configurations outside of the traditional workplace structure.

Work–family conflict: Md-Sidin, Sambasivan, and Ismail (2010) described work–family conflict as incompatibility between family (personal) and job (professional) commitments due to an individual's inability to satisfy his or her pressures and responsibilities.

Work-life balance: Yuile, Chang, Gudmundsson, and Sawang (2012) defined work-life balance as achieving harmony (equilibrium) and satisfaction across both professional and personal domains.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

The study was specific to employees within a global blood management solutions firm located in the midwestern United States. The population consisted of three lower- to middle-level business executives and six employees. I selected both managerial and employee participants as they represent a holistic sample to provide various perspectives on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs strategies.

Assumptions

Assumptions are notions that the researcher believes to be true and accurate (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). I acknowledge several assumptions about the conduct and successful outcome of this study. One assumption was that a minimum of three

executives would be available and willing to share their experiences, thoughts, and opinions on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs within their own professional journeys or observations of others. A secondary assumption was that the study participants would answer all of the interview questions pertaining to work–life balance. A tertiary assumption was that the study participants would provide clear and precise responses and would be truthful in their answers.

Limitations

Limitations are potential shortcomings of the study that are typically out of the researcher's control (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Study limitations are as follows: (a) small sample size, (b) one hour maximum interview time limit, (c) time constraints to conduct the study, and (d) limited researcher expertise. The sample population was limited as the source of the participants was a single business unit in the Midwestern United States. This limitation is common of qualitative research. Another limitation was the amount of time permitted for this study due to the nature of the Walden University Doctorate of Business Administration program.

Yin (2009) noted that researchers require training when conducting case study research. This study was my first qualitative research experience. To prepare for the rigor of case study research, I took preparatory steps to mitigate bias, risk, and error. These steps included the completion of several graduate-level research design courses, reading numerous peer-reviewed articles, and reviewing case study books as well as dissertations. Based on my limited researcher experience, I also worked closely with my chair and committee members to ensure my study's validity.

Delimitations

Delimitations are design parameters which are within the control of the researcher, such as the study site location (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The study's sample delimitations included lower- through middle-level executives employed by the consulting firm. Three lower- to middle-level executives participated in semistructured interviews to share their perceptions and experiences in rich detail. Using a semistructured interview format allowed me to elicit additional information from the study participants by asking follow-up questions based on interviewees' answers. I captured the study participants' job title, number of years fulfilling his or her current role, total number of years' experience relating to flexible work schedules and virtual work programs, and current percentage of virtual work program involvement (focus group employees only).

For the purposes of this study, I focused on the preselected interview questions and delved deeper into additional questions as the opportunity presented itself. My goal in conducting this study was to explore the experiences and record the thoughts of both men and women on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Therefore, the study population required minimal prescreening and preliminary evaluation. However, it was critical that the participant pool possessed the required flexible work schedule and virtual work experiences to effectively contribute to the collection of data.

Significance of the Study

Work-life balance and work-life satisfaction may have an effect on productivity in the workplace (Mušura et al., 2013). Exploring how flexible work schedules and

virtual work programs affect employee productivity allows me to inform business leaders about policies that may influence employee job satisfaction, affect employee productivity, and affect the firm's financial bottom line. Results from this analysis may also suggest changes in corporate workplace policies.

Contribution to Business Practice

Business leaders seek information about how their current policies may or may not affect employee productivity as flexible work schedules and virtual work policies may affect overall productivity and earnings of the company (Pawar, 2013). Chief executive officers seek to understand and consider the effects of productivity and financial performance on their businesses (Giberson & Miklos, 2013). Publishing the results of this study informs business leaders of the potential effects that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs have on employee productivity, with the potential to position employers to better provision work—life responsibilities. Business leaders may also be unintentionally curtailing productivity and financial growth by not optimizing workplace policies. Based on the conclusions and recommendations in this study, leaders can gain relevant work—life benefit policy knowledge, enabling them to review their internal policies based on this information, identify strategies to improve business policies or job requirement approaches, and potentially influence industry policy standards.

Implications for Social Change

Work-life balance is a concern for both corporate leaders and members of society (Kumar & Charkraborty, 2013). Findings from this research added to the existing body of

knowledge by providing information regarding flexible work schedules and virtual work programs and employee productivity, as well as subsequent recommendations. Findings from this study can serve as a foundation for positive social change. Study data supported the conclusion that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs are beneficial to increasing employee productivity. This study's findings can also catalyze awareness in support of related policies.

This study may be of value to society as its findings better position leaders for success while positioning individuals to attain optimum balance between their personal and professional relationships. Findings from this study also demonstrated how work–life benefit programs affect employee productivity. Findings and conclusions from this study may inform leaders about the strategies mangers use for flexible work programs and virtual work programs and assist in preparing organizational leaders to assess their current work–life benefit policies accordingly. Data analysis indicated there is a fluid relationship between work and home; business leaders should be aware of how work–life policies affect their organization as well as their employees. Chief executive officers seek to understand and consider the effects of productivity and financial performance on their businesses (Giberson & Miklos, 2013). Data from this study provide business leaders with the foundational knowledge to implement and maintain flexible work schedules and virtual work programs and further assess whether business leaders' current workplace policies maximize productivity within their organization.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Nicklin and McNall (2013) and Rocereto et al. (2011) indicated that work-life

balance is a critical life element, highly valued by both employees and employers. Workers are placing an increasing value on their time. Family and work are generally considered the two most important domains within an individual's life (Nicklin & McNall, 2013). The proportionate balance between these two domains is a critical component of any working person's life; previous research has confirmed a strong link between work–family balance and overall job satisfaction (Rocereto et al., 2011).

Corporate work—life benefit programs may affect employee job satisfaction and subsequently affect employee productivity. The purpose of this qualitative, explorative single case study was to address the following research question: What strategies do business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs? Conducting a thorough academic review of the literature provided the foundation for this study on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Moreover, the findings showed how these nontraditional working arrangements can affect job satisfaction and employee productivity. The literature review supported the rationale behind the study and the associated interview questions.

I obtained literature through searching various scholarly databases to locate articles relevant to the identified subtopics. This literature review contains 85% peer-reviewed articles, as well as 85% articles published within 5 years of the expected date of receiving Walden University's chief academic officer (CAO) approval. Several of the databases I searched included Thoreau, different ProQuest databases, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses, various EBSCOhost databases, Academic Search Complete/Premier, ScienceDirect, and ABI/Inform Complete.

Examples of related search terms included work—life balance and/or conflict, work—life benefit programs, quality of work—life and/or programs, family-friendly work practices and/or policies, job satisfaction, employee and/or organizational and/or labor productivity, flexible work arrangement and/or hours and/or schedule, virtual work and/or work program(s), telecommuting and/or telecommuters, data saturation, member checking, triangulation, exploratory case study, spillover theory, and motivator-hygiene theory. Supplemental information from books, journals, and metacrawler search engines supported an in-depth research inquiry.

I organized the respective literature by subject matter and content. The literature review includes varying perspectives to build a comprehensive, holistic, nonbiased view of the topic. The primary areas of focus included work–life balance, spillover theory, flexible work schedules, and virtual work programs. Nicklin and McNall (2013) noted that family and work are generally considered the two most important domains within an individual's life.

Work-Life Balance

The intent of this review and summary was to provide relevant information regarding work—life balance and to understand how work—life balance may affect productivity. The realms of personal and professional lives are not always compatible; conflicts between the two domains are often inevitable (Waumsley, Houston, & Marks, 2010). A number of factors pertaining to work—life benefit programs may affect employee job involvement and sense of competence, which lead to job satisfaction and performance (Pawar, 2013). I studied the work—life benefit areas of flexible work

schedules and virtual work programs.

Personal dissatisfaction in one's working life is a problem affecting almost all employees during their career, regardless of position or status (van der Berg & Martins, 2013). Unhappy workers may influence other happy workers by having negative spillover effects on other employee's performance (Bockerman & Ilmakunnas, 2012). Job dissatisfaction can also lead to quit intentions if not promptly addressed (Bockerman & Ilmakunnas, 2012). Firms employing dissatisfied workers are at a higher risk for absenteeism due to illness and recurring absence from work without illness (Bockerman & Ilmakunnas, 2012). Bockerman and Ilmakunnas also indicated that job satisfaction is one area that reflects neglect in current literature. The primary area of neglect includes research pertaining to the relationship between employee job satisfaction and firm productivity (Bockerman & Ilmakunnas, 2012).

Time is an increasingly scarce commodity, and employees are placing greater value on their personal time (Lathois, 2011). Employers support maximization of work—life balance by introducing innovative family-friendly policies that benefit both the business and the employee (Kowsalyadevi & Kumar, 2013). The consequences of work—life conflict are detrimental to both the employer and employee (van der Berg & Martins, 2013). The challenging act of balancing work and life shows in various ways and to various degrees among both men and women, almost universally (Evans, Carney, & Wilkinson, 2013).

Work-life balance has the potential to affect all employed individuals across all types of industries within the workforce. Historically, it would appear that the focus of

the work–life balance topic was strongly placed on women. Khan and Agha (2013) explained that the concept of work–life balance is not confined to one specific gender; the concept is relative and applicable to the entire working population. Dash, Annand, and Gangadharan (2012) supported Khan and Agha's sentiments and argued that work–life balance affects all classes of employees, is no longer considered to be solely a women's issue, and that men have difficulty in finding balance between their personal and professional responsibilities as well. Evans et al. (2013) stated that work–life balance issues are relevant and highly important to men. Men typically deal with work-related issues at the cost of their family and personal lives (Khan & Agha, 2013). However, as women generally tend to fulfill the majority of the household duties, women tend to experience greater work–life balance issues than men (Cross, 2010).

Jogulu and Wood (2011) supported Khan and Agha's (2013) conclusions, noting that women feel an overwhelmingly intense responsibility to fulfill gender-specific roles within the household. Although men have increased their participation in household and family responsibilities, historical and recent literature indicates that women feel as though they still carry the majority of the burden (Jogulu & Wood, 2011). Consequently, women may have a more difficult time balancing the demands of their daily routines; however, work—life conflict can affect both men and women's careers (Cross, 2010).

Work-life balance is a critical component of any working individual's life, and previous research has confirmed a strong link between work-family balance and overall job satisfaction (Rocereto et al., 2011). Job satisfaction consists of the attitudes and feelings an individual possesses about his or her employment (Mofoluwake & Oluremi,

2013). Job satisfaction may have the potential to influence employee productivity. High rates of employee job satisfaction are associated with high commitment levels and high productivity (Rama Devi & Nagini, 2013). It would appear that high rates of job satisfaction, coupled with high levels of productivity, might have the potential to affect corporate financial gain.

Job satisfaction may affect employee productivity. Healthy working conditions have the potential to influence job satisfaction (Mohammadi & Shahrabi, 2013). Mohammadi and Shahrabi (2013) conducted a quantitative study to examine the effects of quality of work life on job satisfaction in two Iranian organizations. Using a Likert scale, Mohammadi and Shahrabi distributed a standard survey to a sample of 86 managerial full-time employees of two governmental agencies. Mohammadi and Shahrabi reviewed and critically examined 12 hypotheses pertaining to the survey, examining job satisfaction and quality of work life. Mohammadi and Shahrabi found that various working components, including quality of work life and working conditions, influenced employee job satisfaction (Mohammadi & Shahrabi, 2013). The sample size of 86 employees was an adequate number of participants; however, researchers have not accepted the study results and conclusions as widely applicable to the workforce based on the limited number of companies that participated in the study. Mohammadi and Shahrabi's study results and conclusions were indicative of a positive spillover from a high degree of satisfaction in the study participants' quality of personal life, crossing over into their professional working domain and vice versa. This concept further supports the spillover-crossover conceptual model (Hill et al., 2013).

Work–life imbalance typically arises as a result of a workers' inability to effectively manage both personal and work commitments due to an inadequate amount of time and support (Odle-Dusseau, Britt, & Bobko, 2012). With the majority of U.S. workers facing work–life issues, this desired, delicate balance continues to pose a great challenge for many corporate employees (Odle-Dusseau et al., 2012). While it appears that men and women perceive balance differently, balance can play a critical role in establishing harmony, both inside and outside of the workplace. A significant number of employees report work–family conflicts, reflective of a labor force in need of balancing work and life demands (Lahamar, Glass, Perrin, Hanson, & Anger, 2013).

Evolving personal and professional demands have the potential to deepen competing stresses between home and work. Family-friendly work practices include flexible work schedules, telework, elder care, parental leave, dependent care, job sharing, and promote organizational attachment and performance (Ko, Hur, & Smith-Walter, 2013). Business leaders continue to consider and reassess work—life benefit, quality of work life, and family-friendly work strategies in response to changing and evolving expectations in the workforce, as well as family life (Ko et al., 2013). Even so, many business leaders and managers are reluctant to promote family-friendly work practice initiatives (Stout, Awad, & Guzmán, 2013). It would appear that business leaders have limited strategies for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Stout et al. (2013) conducted a mixed methods online study that focused on managerial perception of work–life benefit programs. Stout et al. found that managers' support of work–family programs directly influenced their perception of their employees'

level of personal responsibility. The researchers used snowball sampling to recruit a national sample of 63 participants (36 men and 27 women) employed in U.S. private-sector companies (Stout et al., 2013). Study criteria included managers who supervised two or more employees and offered flextime or telecommuting workplace opportunities.

Stout et al. (2013) sent an online questionnaire to study participants via SurveyMonkey consisting of specific quantitative and qualitative items from the Work and Family Questionnaire. Stout et al. used a modified grounded theory approach to analyze the qualitative data. The researchers considered this analysis a modified grounded theory approach because they used specific questions to gather responses, as opposed to posing open-ended questions (Stout et al., 2013). Results of the study indicated that managers' attitudes toward flextime and telecommuting varied based upon how their employees perceived responsibility (Stout et al., 2013). Stout et al. found that work—life benefit programs could be a positive, beneficial option for both the employee and employee, as long as the worker is a responsible worker. In contrast, if the employee is irresponsible, work—life benefit programs could be to blame.

Sathyanarayara Rao and Indla (2010) indicated that individuals experiencing increased work—life balance reap the following benefits: (a) better health, (b) increased job dedication, (c) greater job satisfaction, (d) clearer goal achievement, and (e) overall family happiness. Individuals who have satisfactory work—life balance experience positive work-to-family spillover and vice versa (Hill et al., 2013). Work—life balance supports greater stability within the family, marital cohesion, employment success, and personal happiness (Sathyanarayara Rao & Indla, 2010). It would appear that these

benefits translate into a joyful, well balanced, and fulfilled life.

Employees may not be the only ones who benefit from a highly balanced work and home life. From a professional perspective, employers experience improved performance and productivity, reduced turnover, and decreased absenteeism and tardiness (Sathyanarayara Rao & Indla, 2010). Veeramani and Gayathri (2013) supported Sathyanarayara Rao and Indla's (2010) conclusions and noted that employers experience greater commitment to quality and productivity when organizations institute quality-of-work–life programs. Chimote and Srivastava's (2013) work–life benefits study also supported Veeramani and Gayathri's notions.

Chimote and Srivastava (2013) studied the benefits of work–life balance among organizations and employees. They collected data for their quantitative study via a structured survey distributed to 100 call center employees of one organization. Multiple regression analysis followed data collection. Based on the analytical results analysis performed with Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), the researchers reached the conclusion that organizational and employee perspectives differed on the benefits of work–life balance programs (Chimote & Srivastava, 2013). Chimote and Srivastava concluded that organizational positive perspectives of work–life benefits included reducing absenteeism and turnover, improving productivity and image, and ensuring loyalty and retention. In contrast, employees' perceptions of the primary benefits of work–life balance were autonomy, improved health, stress reduction, job security, and job satisfaction (Chimote & Srivastava, 2013). Satisfied, well-balanced employees influence productivity in the workplace (Rocereto et al., 2011). The study I conducted

represents an alternative approach to researching work—life balance via a qualitative method. I reviewed a large number of previous studies on this topic and the majority of the studies presented utilized quantitative study methods.

S. J. Jang, Zippay, and Park (2012) studied the relationship between flexibility and employee stress among 2,769 study participants drawn from the 2008 NSCW, a representation of national working adults. Specifically, S. J. Jang et al. examined the role of negative work–family spillover. The original data collected from the NSCW were qualitative in nature and included 50-minute interviews. Study participants included both men and women, and the average age of participants was 45 years. S. J. Jang et al. performed a quantitative analysis to test a variety of flexibility and stress hypotheses on the qualitative data. They concluded that flexibility in work schedules was strongly correlated to minimizing stress and negative work–family spillover (S. J. Jang et al., 2012). One perceived limitation of this study was that it only focused on negative work–family spillover. Another limitation included testing a primarily Caucasian subject population.

Armache (2013) concurred with S. J. Jang et al.'s (2012) conclusions and noted that managers who implement work—life balance practices have the potential to increase productivity. Implementing work—life balance policies tends to increase productivity by decreasing employee tension levels and increasing employee drive and commitment (Armache, 2013). Doble and Supriya (2010), Sathyanarayara Rao and Indla (2010), and Ueda (2012) suggested organization leaders need to enact and improve work—life balance policies. Employees face the constant act of juggling both personal and professional

obligations, trying not to fail any one of their responsibilities. When both personal and professional interests are appropriately balanced and in sync, it would appear that the individual, employer, and entire family reap the benefits.

D'Agostino (2011) discussed the preliminary results of a broader quantitative research project (D'Agostino & Levine, 2010), the purpose of which was to examine the use of work–life balance practices across 50 states. D'Agostino and Levine (2010) asked the purposive sample of 600 administrative agency executives to complete an online survey to assess work–life benefit policies. Based on preliminary results, the participants did use specific work–life practices, such as flexible hours (D'Agostino, 2011). Fifty percent of the employees who worked in a remote location embraced the opportunity to participate in a flexible work hours program (D'Agostino & Levine, 2010). One potential weakness of this study was that, while D'Agostino found employees desired flexible work programs, the researcher did not include how these types of programs have an impact on employee productivity. The research I conducted provided a fresh qualitative perspective on the effects of flexible work schedules and virtual work programs on employee productivity.

A review of the literature indicated that work–life benefit programs have both benefits and drawbacks. Kumar and Chakraborty (2013) noted the following benefits of work–life benefit programs: (a) improved performance, (b) increased productivity, (c) employee satisfaction, (d) sound well-being, (e) enhanced organizational image, (f) improved employee retention, and (g) improved quality of life. The drawbacks of poor work–life balance from both an employee and employer perspective include (a) low level

of morale and motivation, (b) increased number of grievances, (c) work–family conflict, (d) poor wellbeing, (e) low employee retention, (f) low performance and productivity, (g) poor organizational image, and (h) poor quality of life (Kumar & Chakraborty, 2013).

While an increasing number of senior leaders within organizations may be considering work—life benefit policies, leaders that effectively implement work—life benefit programs may have the potential to offer their employees the opportunity for personal flexibility in balancing their everyday personal and professional responsibilities. With more and more employees working outside of the traditional office, employees can also decide when they work (Coenen & Kok, 2014). Given the flexibility and nontraditional nature of these policies, it is important to ensure that such programs do not negatively impact employee productivity. Virtual work and flexible work schedules are the most commonly known and applied workplace programs (Coenen & Kok, 2014).

Verma and Mangaraj (2012) stressed that employees place increasing value on striking the right balance among their personal, professional, and social lives. Both women and men prefer working in positions that accommodate and support work—life balance (Doble & Supriya, 2010). While many previous studies involved an exploration of the benefits and drawbacks of work—life benefit programs, fewer studies have explored the specific relationships between flexible work schedules and employee productivity, as well as virtual work programs and employee productivity.

Spillover Theory

The primary conceptual framework for this study focused on the spillover model. Pleck (1977) was the first researcher to mention the spillover model in his analysis of work—family role systems and the spillover into both domains (Naithani, 2010). Prior to the 1970s, members of society traditionally considered work and family domains separate entities; however, this notion has since evolved into shared, interconnected platforms (Pleck, 1977).

Hill et al. (2013) further supported Pleck's notions and suggested that what supports (either negatively or positively) the conditions in the work microsystem will spill over into the family microsystem and vice versa. Hill et al. added that time, energy, organization, and behavior can be strong determinants of work-life balance. Hill et al. argued that if work-family dynamics leave little room for flexibility, then negative spillover in terms of time, energy, and behavior results. Employers who permit employees to integrate work and family responsibilities, actively and efficiently produce positive spillover and a healthier, happier, more productive working staff, resulting in maximized productivity (Hill et al., 2013). Spillover theory dictates that spillover can be both positive and negative (Hill et al., 2013). This theory includes a multidimensional model, whereby work-family spillover can flow in variation as follows: (a) work-tofamily positive spillover, (b) family-to-work negative spillover, (c) family-to-work positive spillover, and (d) work-to-family negative spillover (Hill et al., 2013). Perrone, Wright, and Jackson (2009) assessed family-to-work and work-to-family spillover to gain a better understanding of employed individuals' work–family relationships.

Perrone et al. (2009) studied 661 employees from six firms via a web-based questionnaire and found that more women reported increased family-to-work spillover than did men. This increase in family-to-work spillover is mainly because women remain

the primary household caretakers, raising the potential for negative family-to-work spillover (Perrone et al., 2009). Schneider (2011) concurred and supported Perrone et al.'s findings, agreeing that more women than men spend a disproportionate amount of time on gender-specific tasks outside of work. Schneider found correlations that each area is closely related and likely to influence the other. For example, if an individual experiences family-to-work spillover, he or she is more likely to experience work-to-family spillover.

Performing multiple roles (e.g., spouse, parent, and employee) that require conflicting expectations may have the potential to lead to conflict between roles and affect both personal and professional expectations (Naithani, 2010). However, when properly balanced, it would appear that assuming dual roles could foster or mimic positive outcomes for all involved. Konrad and Yang (2012) argued that the availability and usage of work—life benefits allows employees to perform effectively in both their work and family roles. Based on this finding, Konrad and Yang concluded that equal balance or harmony in fulfilling both roles produces positive and productive outcomes. Spillover is a process by which one person's experience in one domain affects his or her experiences in another domain (Naithani, 2010). Negative spillover at work may carry the strains produced by stressful professional experiences into the home environment, making it challenging to participate in personal endeavors. The spillover theory related to this study as I sought to explore and understand the relationship between work—life benefit programs and employee productivity.

Supporting the spillover theory, scholars have also previously utilized the role

conflict theory (conflict theory) as a foundational means to complement and ground research pertaining to work–family balance and conflict (Buonocore & Russo, 2013). Conflict theory promotes the notion that work–family relationships are bidirectional, in that family has the potential to interfere with work responsibilities, and work has the potential to interfere with family activities (Naithani, 2010). Conflict theory includes time, strain, and behavior based conflict (Naithani, 2010). Time based conflict occurs when an individual has difficulty or cannot complete the activities associated with more than one role (Naithani, 2010). Strain based conflict refers to when the stress, anxiety, or fatigue experienced in one role reduces the effectiveness of the secondary role leading to emotional exhaustion (Naithani, 2010). Behavior based conflict arises when actions that are effective in one particular role are not functional for the secondary role (Naithani, 2010).

In contrast, according to segmentation theory, an independent relationship exists between work and family (Piotrowski, 1979). This independent relationship exists whereby work and personal domain experiences thrive independently of each other (Piotrowski, 1979). Proponents of segmentation theory argue that each distinct environment supports itself and that individuals can function successfully in each environment without any influence or spillover from the other (Piotrowski, 1979).

Similarly, Staines (1980) suggested that compensation theory supports an inverse relationship, whereby work and nonwork relationships are inconsistent with each other. Staines also suggested that what an individual lacks in one setting, they will try to make up for in another. This could explain why an individual would become more involved

with their work when experiencing personal issues. When compensation occurs, one would anticipate elevated involvement within one sphere accompanied by low involvement in another sphere (Staines, 1980).

Although the role conflict theory was a supportive foundational theory applicable to this research, the spillover theory related best to this study as I sought to explore and understand the relationship between work–life balance and employee productivity.

Work–life balance may be a prominent topic to both employers and corporations. This area may have the potential to affect balance and productivity both inside and outside of job professions.

Flexible Work Schedules

Flexible work schedules rank high in supporting employees' desires to manage competing responsibilities (Tuttle & Garr, 2012). Employees may respond well to employers who are sensitive to the demanding challenges that personal and professional commitments bring. It would appear that alternative work arrangements might alleviate some of the pressures placed on the employee; however, business leaders may have an interest to understand how nontraditional workplace policies affect their organizations.

Nadler, Cundiff, Lowery, and Jackson (2010) explained that flextime programs support the ability to work a defined number of predetermined hours, leaving flexibility for the remaining hours. Job flexibility remains a prominent theme in improving work—life balance. Both employees and employers place an increasingly strong value on the option of flexibility in work schedules when negotiating job contracts (Nadler et al., 2010). Employees find this flexibility attractive when seeking new potential job openings

(Nadler et al., 2010). Employees value the opportunity to create their own working hours to support personal responsibilities, relieving some of the pressure experienced inside and outside of their place of employment (Nadler et al., 2010). Employees use flexible work hours to manage the day-to-day commitments between their personal lives and professional careers efficiently (Nadler et al., 2010). This attractiveness has the potential to benefit organizations by attracting high-quality employees (Nadler et al., 2010).

Organizations that model flexible work arrangements display to employees the value that managers place on employee personal time (Lathois, 2011). Employees engaged in flexible scheduling have a greater opportunity to better manage and assess the time required to complete their tasks (Lathois, 2011). This commitment engages respect and trust among employees and supervisors, while also fostering employee loyalty to the organization, thus reducing employee turnover (Lathois, 2011).

Available research suggested that flexible timing in work schedules results in improved job satisfaction and overall balance of work and family commitments (Tuttle & Garr, 2012). Employers who support variations in work schedules may promote a healthier and equal balance between employees' personal and professional responsibilities. This flexibility may have the potential to lead to a reduction in employee stress by honoring work as well as family obligations. The minimization of stress may also foster a reduction in employee illnesses, resulting in less employee sick time.

Flexibility in working hours can also enhance employee retention (Nadler et al., 2010). Several additional benefits to flexible work schedules may include (a) positive outcomes in productivity, (b) reduced absenteeism, and (c) higher job satisfaction (Nadler et al.,

2010).

Downes and Koekemoer (2012) conducted a qualitative, exploratory study in South Africa to explore the perceived challenges and benefits associated with implementing work—life balance policies, placing a strong focus on flextime. Utilizing semistructured interviews, Downes and Koekemoer drew a purposive, voluntary sample of 15 study participants from an international auditing and consulting organization within the financial sector. Downes and Koekemoer found four main themes from the data collected: (a) individual challenges, (b) general challenges, (c) aspects firms need to successfully implement flextime effectively, and (d) the benefits from implementing flextime. Downes and Koekemoer found that some of the benefits from implementing flextime included work-life balance, employee loyalty, and job commitment. Potential challenges included maintaining productivity, understanding flextime, and a shortage of critical resources (Downes & Koekemoer, 2012). One potential limitation of this study is that it solely focused on one organization and therefore may only be applicable to that organization as opposed to the field (Downes & Koekemoer, 2012). Research inclusive of more than one firm may have strengthened the study. Another point for consideration is that this study focused on one work-life benefit policy (Downes & Koekemoer, 2012). A follow-up study inclusive of additional work-life benefit policies such as virtual work programs and job sharing may expand upon this topic.

McNall, Masuda, and Nicklin (2010) conducted a study of 220 participants to examine the relationship between flexible work arrangements and associated work–life balance. McNall et al. recruited participants from an Internet site called StudyResponse.

The focus of this nonprofit recruitment site is supporting work—life studies aimed at soliciting research participants. McNall et al. captured data for the following demographics: (a) gender, (b) age, (c) marital status, (d) education, (e) number of children, and (f) hours worked. Study participants had a broad range of job experience. Out of the selected 220 study participants, 116 reported that their employer offered flexible work arrangements. Study participants used a Likert-type scale to indicate their level of agreement or disagreement with each item.

McNall et al. (2010) discovered a common theme: flexibility appeared to be a clear driver with respect to overall job satisfaction. High levels of commitment and productivity are associated with increased levels of employee job satisfaction (Rama Devi & Nagini, 2013). Rama Devi and Nagini (2013) echoed McNall et al.'s findings and concluded that flexible work arrangements support positive organizational outcomes. Specifically, McNall et al. found that flexible work arrangements and compressed workweek schedules directly correlated to work-family satisfaction and balance. Satisfied, well-balanced employees influence productivity in the workplace (Rocereto et al., 2011). Healthier, happier employees with minimized stress levels may be more apt to generate higher levels of productivity and output.

Furthermore, the option to partake in flexible scheduling yields a more productive and engaging work environment (Wickramasinghe, 2012). Moreover, supervisor support moderates the relationship between job flexibility and employee stress in the workplace (Wickramasinghe, 2012). Conversely, placing a focus on flexible work options, reduced hours, and working remotely does not result in less work–life stress (Burg-Brown, 2013).

Using work–life balance policies could result in career burnout (Burg-Brown, 2013). Changing work environments, coupled with increasing access to technology, can result in gray lines between life and work (Burg-Brown, 2013). Flexible time–space workplace policies often result in blurred boundaries between work and home life (Fonner & Stache, 2012; Valoura, 2013). Using information and communication technologies can further enhance these blurred lines (Sayah & Suess, 2013).

McNall et al. (2010) found that flexible work schedules permit employees to better manage and balance both professional and personal obligations. Managing competing responsibilities through flexible workplace models resulted in lower stress, healthier relationships, lower absenteeism, and greater job satisfaction (McNall et al., 2010). Although flexibility is important to both men and women in the workforce, generally speaking, flexibility is essential for women because women are the primary caretakers of the household (Baxter & Chesters, 2011).

Baxter and Chesters (2011) indicated that women require personal control over the duration and scheduling of their working hours. Carlson, Grzywacz, and Kacmar (2010) concurred with Baxter and Chesters and supported the notion that women, as a standard, benefit more from flexible work arrangements than men do. Carlson et al. conducted a quantitative study of 607 participants in which 443 study participants fulfilled traditional work arrangements and 164 followed some form of a flexible work arrangement. As with McNall et al. (2010), Carlson et al. also derived the sample population for their study from the StudyResponse academic service website, the purpose of which is to align researchers with participants willing to complete surveys in response

to research-related inquiries.

Carlson et al. (2010) distributed a survey to study participants to examine the relationship of schedule flexibility with job performance and satisfaction in the personal and professional domains. The researchers also explored variations in gender differences. Carlson et al. performed a regression analysis on the collected data and found that flexible work arrangements, specifically flexibility in scheduling, contributed to enhanced job performance and satisfaction at work and in the family. According to the study results, flexible scheduling minimizes work-family conflict and maximizes work-family enrichment. Specifically, Carlson et al. concluded that schedule flexibility plays a stronger role in women than in men in terms of the work-family interface. In an additional study on flexible work arrangements, Nadler et al. (2010) found that 43% of employees received the opportunity of a flexible work arrangement. In this same study, 79% of the female employees took advantage of the flexible work arrangements, whereas only 63% of the male employees opted to (Nadler et al., 2010).

Based on these studies, it was not clear on how flexible work schedules affect employee productivity. McNall et al. (2010) argued the need for additional research as to virtual work and the effect on employee work—life balance. Chief executive officers are interested in understanding and considering the impacts of productivity and financial performance on their businesses (Giberson & Miklos, 2013).

Virtual Work Programs

Virtual work may be becoming increasingly popular across all industries. A report prepared by the Telework Research Network (Goodman, 2013) indicated that

approximately 3.1 million American workers work from home exclusively, with an even larger percentage working out of the home part-time. Modern communication technologies enable organizations to go virtual by relying primarily on Internet and phone capabilities.

Greer and Payne (2014) explored high performing teleworker strategies, supervisor perception of teleworker challenges, and successful teleworker strategies relating to work-family facilitation and turnover intentions. In addition to their supervisors, 86 high performing virtual workers provided both qualitative and quantitative data (Greer & Payne, 2014). Greer and Payne used a combination of openended questions as well as a series of survey questions to support their data collection strategy.

The study results indicated that the use of advanced technology, communicating, task planning, and striving for heightened productivity all contributed to virtual success (Greer & Payne, 2014). This study is not without limitations. One major study limitation included that these study results may not be applicable across other industries (Greer & Payne, 2014). Another limitation was that the study is not inclusive of nonteleworker perceptions (Greer & Payne, 2014).

Mamaghani (2012) reported that the U.S. Census Bureau documented a 61% jump in virtual work from 2005 to 2010. Operative and effective technology is a primary enabler in the design and execution of a successful remote workforce program that benefits both employees and businesses (Rodriguez, 2013). Managers may question the productivity of employees who are not physically present in the office. Mamaghani

suggested examining virtual employee commitment and productivity, with productivity including hours, intensity, and efficiency.

Researchers at a center in Stanford University explored virtual work programs and employee productivity (Goodman, 2013). Stanford University researchers ran a ninemonth controlled study at CTrip, the largest travel agency in China, which employs 13,000 individuals. The researchers split the sample population of 255 employees with similar qualifications and team supervisors into two groups: home-based workers and office-based workers. The study results showed that the home-based workers had a 13% increase in productivity, a \$2,000 savings per employee, and staff attrition was half that of office-based workers (Goodman, 2013). As evidenced by this study, cost savings are one of the primary benefits of virtual work programs (Tremblay & Thomsin, 2012). Nieminen, Nicklin, McClure, and Chakrabarti (2011), Tremblay and Thomsin (2012), and Aboelmaged and El Subbaugh (2012) also noted that organizations have resorted to virtual work to increase productivity.

Productivity outcomes can vary depending on the type of task the employee is performing. Dutcher (2012) used an experimental methods research approach to explore the effects of virtual work on employee productivity, focusing on the role that dull and creative tasks play. Dutcher (2012) recruited participants from Florida State University to take part in multiple tests that included both dull and creative tasks. The experiment included 125 research participants, 52% of which were men. Dutcher asked participants to complete a short behavioral questionnaire. Regression analysis on various hypotheses followed data collection. Dutcher found that out-of-office productivity results were low

for dull, repetitive tasks, whereas creative tasks produced high productivity levels.

Published scholarly literature does not clearly assess the productivity of virtual workers (Dutcher, 2012).

Virtual work may be becoming increasingly popular across various industries. It would appear that businesses are seeking alternative work model options that increase productivity and reduce costs. Organizations continue to adopt virtual work programs in response to the financial savings realized and the unique flexibility of nontraditional workplace policies (Purvanova, 2014). Globalization may be prompting business leaders to implement effective, advanced strategies to gain unmatched competitive advantage. AT&T, Dow Chemical, Nortel, and Sun Microsystems are among a few U.S. firms offering virtual work programs who have benefited from the cost savings. Sun Microsystems and AT&T save \$70 million and \$25 million each year, respectively, on real estate costs alone (Goodman, 2013). While leaders of some corporations hesitate to consider new models of working, virtual work may be becoming an increasing topic of interest in the fresh and innovative trends of large businesses.

As the professional world continues to evolve, the corporate sector can expect dramatic shifts in how and where businesses choose to operate. Virtual work is synonymous with telework (Goodman, 2013). *Telework* is the substitution of information communicative technology for job travel, in contrast to the main office location, including but not limited to any one of the following: (a) working out of the home, (b) working from a satellite office location, or (c) working via a telework center or a number of other job stations (Goodman, 2013). Computer-based technology is an unconventional

alternative to working outside of the conventional job location. Martin and MacDonnell (2012) insisted that a large number of supervisors are hesitant to embrace telework because they see no need or rationale for this type of work.

Goodman (2013) cited the Telework Research Network, who reported that approximately 3.1 million American employees work out of their homes exclusively, with an even greater percentage of part-time remote workers. Telework requires manager trust of employees because managers can have little oversight on a daily basis (Clark, Karau, & Michalisin, 2012). Effective telecommuters are equipped with distinctive traits and are likely to be self-motivated, organized, strong communicators, task-oriented, trustworthy, and have limited need for face-to-face interaction (Clark et al., 2012). Communication, allowing for autonomy, finding a balance between micromanagement and macromanagement, and the increasing role of trust are essential requirements for managing alternative work styles (Richardson, 2010). Clark et al. (2012) and Moser and Axtell (2013) further supported Richardson's (2010) notions and indicated that trust is a critical factor for members of a virtual team. Employers who employ trustworthy, autonomous teleworkers may be more likely to see higher levels of productivity and positive organizational outcomes.

C.-Y. Jang (2013) considered trust to be one of the most challenging and essential aspects of virtual work. Using a quantitative research method, C.-Y. Jang studied factors critical to awareness and trust in virtual work teams. C.-Y. Jang tested a number of hypotheses with seven virtual engineering design teams from universities in the United States, Mexico, and Russia. Each design team consisted of scholars from two locations

presented with the following communication tools: (a) video conferencing systems, (b) telephone and fax, (c) a process-specific e-mail account, and (d) a web-based groupware tool. The results of the regression analysis indicated that communication frequency, task interdependence, and awareness level were both positively associated with trust in virtual teams (C.-Y. Jang, 2013). Trust is an important factor that influences team collaboration and group productivity (C.-Y. Jang, 2013).

Martin and MacDonnell (2012) argued that research shows little correlation between telework and largely positive organizational outcomes. Telework can often be a source of work–life imbalance (Morganson, Major, Oborn, Verive, & Heelan, 2010). Morganson et al. (2010) also noted that working remotely can influence permeability between personal and job domains, subsequently resulting in longer working hours. Quite often, employees may find themselves tied to their cell phones, checking e-mail at all hours of the day and night. This attachment to work may have the potential to cause an unnecessary and conflicting overlap between the two important domains.

Drew (2013) concurred with Morganson et al. (2010) and presented additional drawbacks of telework that include (a) feelings of a lack of camaraderie among employees, (b) minimized knowledge sharing across the team due to the variance in locations, (c) lacking the required technical skills to thrive in a virtual space, (d) maintaining work—life balance, and (e) dealing with distractions. Virtual workers report feelings of a lack of camaraderie as their main challenge (Drew, 2013). In addition to these drawbacks, teleworkers report ergonomic challenges (Ellison, 2012). Leaders of corporations may have the ability to mitigate virtual risks by setting up corporate work

functions for employees to interact in person, fully educate, build relationships, and strengthen team unity.

In contrast, Pyöriä (2011) disagreed with Morganson et al. (2010) and Drew (2013), and explained that telework is worth careful consideration. Telework can foster a more flexible, cost-effective, and ecological alternative working method (Pyöriä, 2011). Societal and individual research has shown positive benefits of telework; however, some modern organizational business leaders have not fully embraced this alternate method of working (Martin & MacDonnell, 2012). These benefits include, but are not limited to (a) increased productivity, (b) strengthened organizational commitment, (c) employee retention, and (d) improved performance (Martin & MacDonnell, 2012). Additionally, Eng, Moore, Grunberg, Greenberg, and Sikora (2010) supported Martin and MacDonnell (2012), noting that employees who have more control over their work schedule and location generally experience less work—life conflict, greater job satisfaction, and increased productivity. Organizational leaders may have interest to continue to explore the potential benefits of telework, as well as continue to weigh the drawbacks.

Employees may often view working at home and flexible scheduling as valuable and attractive alternatives as they have the option to plan their day around their personal and professional obligations. This planning can minimize sacrifices within both domains and ensure all working components receive the required attention. Hayman (2010), Julien, Somerville, and Culp (2011), Clark et al. (2012), and Maruyama and Tietze (2012) supported the notion that flexible workplace options support job satisfaction. Satisfied, well-balanced employees influence productivity in the workplace (Rocereto et

al., 2011). These options may permit employees to better manage their daily work and family obligations. Employees who successfully manage their everyday responsibilities may experience increased quality of life and decreased levels of stress. Telecommuters report less work-family conflict (Goodman, 2013). Alternatively, a significant proportion of workers report that they work a number of hours at home, which may foster balance, but can also be a source of infringement on the employee's personal life (Tremblay & Thomsin, 2012).

Virtual work programs may foster a greater sense of work–life balance and increased productivity in the workplace. However, remote workplace policies can cause negative spillover into the home domain (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014). Technological advances are providing workers with increased location flexibility; however, it is equally important to discuss potential drawbacks and work–life conflict issues (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014). Employees may feel an obligation to check e-mail and work all hours of the day into the evening, on the weekends, and while on vacation (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014).

Often, employers are hesitant to permit employees to work remotely because there can be little oversight and minimal supervision on a regular basis. This resistance indicates a diminished level of trust that could provoke suspicions surrounding an employee's work habits outside of the traditional office environment. Elsbach and Cable (2012) suggested that nontraditional working arrangements, such as telecommuting, could often have negative connotations. Some of these pitfalls include lower quality performance reviews, minimal raises, and fewer promotions (Elsbach & Cable, 2012).

Supervisors must pay critical attention to the following areas: (a) finding the right work—life balance, (b) overcoming workplace isolation, (c) compensating for lack of face-to-face communication, and (d) compensating for lack of visibility (Mulki et al., 2009).

Conversely, passive face time can influence an employee's professional career. Passive face time includes simply being present on site (Elsbach & Cable, 2012). Being present on site may not account for interactions with other employees, exchange of information with management, or employee productivity. Elsbach and Cable (2012) found that even when employees are equally productive, managers might pass judgment on the remote staff. Managers may even pass judgment on remote employees' capabilities and their potential for higher-level positions.

Despite resistance from a number of firms, virtual work arrangements have become increasingly prevalent, generating benefits for both employees and companies (Hubers, Schwanan, & Dijst, 2011; Mulki et al., 2009). Benefits to employees include flexibility, increased job autonomy, and availability to respond to family commitments (Hubers et al., 2011; Mulki et al., 2009). According to Kazemi, Shaemi, and Vakili (2011), companies reap the benefits of work—life benefit programs. Drew (2013) concurred with Kazemi et al. and suggested that company benefits include lowered real estate costs, higher productivity, and the convenient ability to hire employees despite their geographical location, with the potential for greater compensation based on the virtual savings. Many Fortune 500 firms, including IBM, Accenture, AT&T, and Procter & Gamble, take increasing advantage of remote work setups, either partially or completely eliminating traditional offices (Mulki et al., 2009).

Based on a review of literature published to date, it appears that virtual work programs could have a positive impact on balancing competing personal commitments with job commitments. Chief executive officers are equally interested in understanding and considering the impacts of productivity and financial performance on their businesses (Giberson & Miklos, 2013). A review of the literature indicated that to date, more researchers conducted quantitative analyses than conducted qualitative analyses. The qualitative nature of this study contributed a fresh, in-depth, holistic perspective to the field of work–life balance and employee productivity research.

Transition and Summary

In this study, I included an overview of work—life balance and theoretical underpinnings of how flexible work schedules and virtual work programs can affect employee productivity. Literature on previous studies regarding work—life benefit programs and employee productivity set the foundation for the study topic. Section 1 introduced the background of the problem that elicited further research on this topic, both the intention and significance of the anticipated research, as well as information defining the population, format, and conduct of the study. A thorough review of historical and current academic literature further supported the subject. The contents of Section 2 address the focus of the project and provide further detailed information surrounding the research method and design, population sample, and data collection and analysis techniques. Section 3 provides (a) data results from the preceding interviews, (b) study conclusions, (c) application to professional practice, (d) implications for social change, and (e) personal recommendations.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, I describe the plan for the research design: (a) study method, (b) population and sampling, (c) data collection techniques, and (d) data analysis. Section 2 includes the actions I took to enhance reliability and validity, as well as the tools for collecting the data. This section sets the foundation and transition into Section 3, which includes data results from the (a) interviews, (b) study conclusions, (c) application to professional practice, (d) implications for social change, and (e) personal recommendations.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, explorative single case study was to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The sample population consisted of three lower- to middle-level business executives and six employees within a Midwestern United States division of a global blood management solutions firm. This population is important to business leaders because it is representative of a global consulting firm that employs work—life benefit programs. The research design included the following data sources: (a) semistructured interviews, (b) focus group, and (c) company documentation. With work—life balance at the forefront of societal value, the implications for positive social change included the potential to better empower employees to balance both personal and professional responsibilities while maximizing productivity in their professional positions.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary data collection instrument. Lincoln and Guba (1985) first

introduced the notion of humans acting as a research instrument to convey the uniqueness of the qualitative researcher's role throughout the data collection and analysis process.

Only human beings can bring the responsiveness, flexibility, and sensitivity needed for scientific inquiry, making humans the most appropriate instrument for inquiries targeting understanding, meaning, deconstruction, or critical awareness (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

As the key research instrument, I employed an interview protocol (see Appendix E) as the foundation for semistructured, qualitative interviews. Marshall and Rossman (2011) argued that semistructured interviews are the most effective strategy for the researcher to gain a deep understanding of an individual's experience and fully address the research question. My role included performing the following tasks: (a) analyzing the current literature surrounding this topic; (b) constructing a series of relevant, useful interview questions; (c) interviewing preselected participants; (d) collecting and analyzing the data; and (e) presenting the research findings to make solid conclusions and recommendations.

As Turner (2010) noted, it is critical to view data without personal bias to ensure accurate, reliable, and valid conclusions; data coding processes are a helpful technique to mitigate researcher bias. Incorporating a focus group as well as the assessment of company documentation also mitigated the chances for introducing bias that can sometimes occur when the researcher relies on just one data source or method.

Methodological triangulation mitigates the chances for introducing bias that can sometimes occur when the researcher uses only one data source or method.

The primary data sources for this study were study participants who met the

predefined eligibility criteria necessary for answering the research question. Secondary and tertiary data sources included a focus group and company documentation, respectively. I have some experience with flexible work schedules and virtual work programs, having participated in both types of programs over the course of my career. The participants did not work at the same company as me. No prior relationship existed between the research participants and me. However, the participants may have known each other within their common company.

Using a qualitative, exploratory single case study design, I facilitated a series of three face-to-face interactions with managerial study participants via semistructured interviews with open-ended questions. Turner (2010) recommended following the same interview techniques for all study participants. Therefore, I created my own interview protocol and employed the same interview techniques and procedures for all research participants. During the interview process, researchers must pay close attention to their conduct to ensure they do not cross ethical boundaries and they maintain participants' protection (Gibson et al., 2013). Maintaining ethical boundaries enforced the protection of human subjects. In further support of assuring ethical conduct, I adhered to the Belmont Report protocol, supporting respect for persons, beneficence, and justice.

A transcriptionist read and signed a confidentiality agreement (see Appendix G) and subsequently transcribed the interview data. Follow-up questions helped me to clarify the data. To assign meaning to the data, I performed a manual mind-mapping analysis to narrow emerging themes and trends. Ethical standards required careful consideration. As Gibson, Benson, and Brand (2013) noted, researchers must pay close attention to study

conduct procedures to assure the ethical protection of all participants.

Participants

Moustakas (1994) suggested that in qualitative research, experiences of the phenomenon serve as the basis for selection of study participants. Miles and Huberman (1994) added that a smaller sample size, as opposed to a larger sample size is sufficient in qualitative research. Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) suggested that guidelines for determining nonprobabilistic sample sizes are virtually nonexistent. Therefore, I asked three lower- to middle-level executives with related flexible work schedule and virtual work program experiences to participate in semistructured interviews to share their rich, detailed experiences and perceptions on employee productivity. Additionally, a focus group of six employees provided their experiences with flexible work schedules and virtual work program effects on productivity. The study participants were all employed within the same organization. To improve the quality and relevance of the data, preselected participants partook in the study via personal networking within the consulting firm. Pre-existing contacts within the firm assisted with gaining access to the appropriate lower- to middle-level executives and focus group employees to ensure that the study participants possessed the required experience. Initial working relationships were established via e-mail.

I conducted multiple interviews to collect the data. Three mid-level managers participated individually in three semistructured interviews in which they recounted their personal experiences and perceptions regarding flexible work schedules and virtual work programs, as well as two follow-up *member checking* interviews. A total of six

employees participated in a 2 hour focus group session that generated a lively discussion and produced an abundance of data.

To protect the privacy of the research participants, all confidential information, including the company name and study participant names were intentionally omitted from the study. At the time of the interviews, I assigned a research participant code to each of the participants. The mid-level managers were assigned research codes ranging from M01- M03. All employees within the focus group session were assigned research codes ranging from E01-E06. However, in the transcription there was no way to differentiate each focus group participant; therefore, in the presentation of the findings, all focus group participants are referred to collectively as *FG01*. Although infrequent, I deleted any inadvertent mention of specific names from the transcripts.

The study sample formed a diverse group of individuals with varying gender, ethnicities, backgrounds, and experience. All participants reported to a central office located in the midwestern United States, where the interviews and focus group sessions took place. Study participants possessed various backgrounds spanning across new product development, software engineering, and customer support. The managerial participants all possessed related experience implementing or maintaining flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The demographics of the managerial study sample revealed a male to female ratio of 2:1. The manager participants presented flexible work schedule and virtual work program experience ranging from 5 years to 18 years.

Establishing initial working relationships with the participants was essential for collecting valuable, reliable data. I articulated study expectations during the beginning of

the interview process to support the desired outcomes of the study. Establishing credibility with the participants, respecting opinions, perceptions, and experiences, as well as maintaining clear and open communication contributed to building a successful, ethical working relationship (Buchanan & Hvizdak, 2009). Maintaining ethical principles throughout research process is critical (Gibson et al., 2013). To protect participants' rights, I utilized coded data and stored all electronic information on a password-protected laptop and currently store hard copies locked in a cabinet in my home. Keeping participant information private maximized a confidential working relationship with each interviewee. I will retain data related to the participants via electronic and hard copy for 5 years. After the 5 year retention period has passed, I will destroy the portable USB device and shred the relevant hard copies.

Research Method and Design

A review of current research methods identified three methodologies: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Thomas, Nelson, & Silverman, 2011). All three methods were viable research options, equal in preference, each with its own inherent strengths and pitfalls (Case & Light, 2011). After a thorough evaluation of the three available research methods, based on the research question, I selected a qualitative method and explorative single case study design.

Method

The qualitative method was the research approach for this study as I sought to explore and capture managerial experiences and personal viewpoints. The qualitative method provides researchers with an understanding of the participants' beliefs, values,

and perceptions (Montero-Marín et al., 2013). Moustakas (1994) supported Montero-Marín et al.'s conclusions, and offered that qualitative research allows for vibrant, frank discussions enriched with personal experiences. Qualitative studies also incorporate open-ended questions that represent the basis for the in-depth exploration of the phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2011).

The primary intent of conducting this study was not to test objective hypotheses or theories; therefore, quantitative methodology did not meet the purpose. Researchers conduct quantitative studies to address a problem by testing objective theories through examining the relationships and differences among sets of variables (Frels & Onweugbuzie, 2013). The goal of this study was not to test objective theories, but rather to explore the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Frels and Onweugbuzie (2013) further explained that in quantitative research, the researcher quantifies the results and highlights issues based on testing of the preconceived hypotheses. The qualitative research method met the goals of this study (versus the quantitative approach) because the intention of this study was to capture participant conjecture in response to open-ended inquiries.

Mixed methods research is a combination of both qualitative and quantitative forms of inquiry within a single study (Thomas et al., 2011). The purpose of the present study was not to support quantifiable results based on preconceived hypotheses, but rather to explore and capture detailed information regarding the experiences of managers and employees. A mixed method approach might have provided a further intensive view into the research topic; however, the mixed-method approach was not the most viable

research option for this study given the additional complexity that mixed-method study approaches entail. A mixed method approach would not have fully aligned with the intent of the study which was to explore the research phenomenon comprehensively using a qualitative, exploratory approach.

Research Design

I chose the exploratory single case study design based upon the research question. Yin (2003) suggested considering the case study design when attempting to answer questions of *how* and *why* regarding a particular phenomenon. Additionally, Yin (2009) suggested that the case study design supports retaining holistic and meaningful characteristics of real-life events, such as work–life balance and employee productivity. Conducting a qualitative, case study approach permitted the participants to describe their experiences in-depth and at length (Groenewald, 2004). Further supporting the research design I selected, Baxter and Jack (2008) stated that, as a form of qualitative research, case studies could inform professional practice or evidence-informed decision making inclusive of policy realms.

Prior to selecting the case study approach, I considered several other qualitative study designs, including ethnography, phenomenology, and narrative designs.

Ethnography research is a form of inquiry targeted toward a specific cultural group over an extended period of time using primarily observational and interview data (Wägar, 2012). A mini-ethnographic study could have potentially satisfied the purpose of this study; however, the intent was not to study (observe) the day-to-day interactions and lives of a specific group. Another point for consideration was the difficulty of observing

people working in a virtual environment. There were also time and resource constraints that would have prevented a mini-ethnographic type of design implementation. The phenomenological approach focuses on describing the details and meanings of personal experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Through phenomenology, the researcher encourages the participant to describe his or her individual lived experiences on specific subject matter and, in turn, interpret these data to form conclusions and recommendations (Moustakas, 1994).

Moustakas (1994) described the phenomenological research design as that in which the data provide real, personal life experiences of the individuals involved pertaining to the subject matter. Phenomenology partially met the research criteria related to the participants' experience; however, the research design would not have been the most effective option for my study, given the desired in-depth inquiry of study participants working for one company. The narrative research design did not support the goal of the research, as I did not wish to study the lives of the participants, nor combine those views with personal life experiences to form a collaborative narrative (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000).

Yin (2003) grouped case studies into three distinct categories: (a) descriptive, (b) explanatory, or (c) exploratory. Yin (2003) noted that descriptive case studies are focused on propositions about a phenomenon where the researcher carefully scrutinizes the phenomenon from the onset of the research. Explanatory case studies differ from descriptive case studies as explanatory case studies aid in the explanation of causal relationships used to develop theory (Yin, 2003). Exploratory case study research aids the

researcher in investigating distinct phenomena; often where there is minimal preliminary research in the field (Yin, 2003). I was not looking to describe a phenomenon or to examine how particular events occurred with supportive cause-and-effect relationships. Since my goal was to explore a phenomenon that had no clear set of outcomes (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011), the exploratory single case study design was the appropriate design option.

I reviewed and considered several alternative types of case study designs including historical case study design and Stake's (1995) intrinsic, instrumental, and collective case study designs. Historical case study analysis was not required because the purpose of this study was not to draw conclusions from past events over time (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011). Stake (1995) and Baxter and Jack (2008) noted that intrinsic case study design is not appropriate for studies in which the intent is understanding a phenomenon that supports generalized research findings to the broader populations. Intrinsic case study research is specific to individual situations or events and does not meet the purpose of this study. The intent of instrumental case study research is to understand a theoretical question better or problem and the actual case under investigation is of secondary importance (Baxter & Jack, 2008). The goal of using instrumental research is to understand the theoretical underpinnings of the issue (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Instrumental design was not appropriate as exploring and understanding the case, not an underlying issue within the case, was the objective.

Stake (1995) stated that collective case study design is similar to that of multiple case study design because it enables the researcher to compare and discover variances

within and between cases. The intent of this single case study was to explore a phenomenon, focusing on one case study, and not to compare and contrast between multiple scenarios. In summary, I selected the exploratory design over the other possible designs in support of exploring a phenomenon that did not have a clear set of outcomes.

Population and Sampling

The population consisted of a purposive sample of three low to midlevel business executives for semistructured interviews and six employees for a focus group. The participants were employed at a midwestern United States division of a global blood management solutions firm and provided information on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Patton (2002) and McMillan and Schumacker (2005) agreed that there are no implied restrictions in qualitative inquiry regarding sample size; instead, data are the personal perceptions of the study participants. McMillan and Schumacker further suggested that the insights generated from a purposive sample via qualitative inquiry rely heavily upon the information richness of the individual experiences and the analytical capabilities of the researcher, rather than on the sample size. However, a smaller sample size was preferable when conducting exploratory-focused interviews (Patton, 2002). Frels and Onwuegbuzie (2013) agreed that purposive sampling within a qualitative study included using a small number of individuals and locations to collect information to generalize the findings to a larger population. Using a purposive sample aided in capturing rich and varied data in support of the study conclusions, resulting in a maximized representation of participants' views (Montero-Marín et al., 2013).

I conducted three interviews with each individual middle level executive. The first

interview served to capture in-depth data, with the second interview serving as a followup interview, while the tertiary interview provided an opportunity for member checking.

Data saturation occurs when no new data add findings or themes (Bowen, 2008).

Marshall and Rossman (2011) stated that additional interviews might be required to
assure the researcher achieved data saturation. Additional interviews were not required as
data saturation occurred by the close of the third interview. Utilizing 60 in-depth
interviews, Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) used data saturation as a qualitative
research technique to ensure exhaustion of new data information or themes. Follow-up
and member checking interviews assisted to achieve data saturation and to ensure an
information-rich case. The population was sufficiently narrow to produce a clear outcome
based on the qualitative data obtained from the interviews and the availability of data
sources was sufficient to enable flexibility to support data saturation.

McMillan and Schumacker (2005) indicated that the proposed sample size be shared and reviewed with other scholars. The doctoral study committee reviewed the proposed sample size. The eligibility criteria for participants included (a) over the age of 18 years, (b) currently employed by the targeted consulting firm, (c) occupied at a minimum an associate level position or at a maximum a midlevel manager position, and (d) willing to share their personal experiences or perceptions of flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. I captured each study participant's job title, number of years fulfilling his or her current role, total number of years' experience relating to flexible work schedules and virtual work programs, and current percentage of virtual work program involvement (focus group employees only).

Ethical Research

I conducted this study under the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approal number 11-24-14-0167383. Researchers must be mindful of their conduct to ensure they do not cross ethical boundaries and they maintain participants' protection (Gibson et al., 2013). Interviewees must provide informed consent for their participation in the research (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011). As part of the participant recruitment process, I e-mailed the invitation to participate in research communication (see Appendix B) with the informed consent form (see Appendix C). E-mailing the invitation to participate in research communication provided the participants with ample time to review the study procedures in advance and reply with any questions or concerns the participants may have had in regard to their role in the study. Study participants reviewed and provided their consent to participate in the research via e-mail, acknowledging their voluntary participation and agreement to participate in the interviews. Providing participants with the opportunity to consent in advance of the interview prevented undue pressure on the potential participant to join the study. Study participants did not receive any incentives for study participation.

I maintained company and participant confidentiality and continued to engage with participants, negotiating and reaffirming informed consent throughout the process (Pollock, 2012). All participants maintained the right to withdraw from the study at any time. No participants withdrew from the study. However, if a participant chose to withdraw from the study, the study participant would have witnessed the destruction of any personal study records (e.g., audio recordings, memory device, notes) that had

surfaced. Coded data remains on a password-protected laptop and hard copies locked in a cabinet within my home. Data related to the remaining participants exists in electronic and hard copy form for 5 years. After the 5 year retention period has passed, I will destroy the portable USB device and shred the relevant hard copies.

Data Collection

Data collection was a key component of this doctoral research. It was imperative to formulate a master plan that clearly identified and articulated critical strategies for data collection, organization, and analysis. I created the study plan to ensure accurate and reliable study results.

Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument. Lincoln and Guba (1985) first introduced the concept of humans acting as a research instrument to convey the uniqueness of the researcher's role throughout the qualitative data collection and analysis process as only human beings can bring the responsiveness, flexibility, and sensitivity needed for scientific inquiry. As the key research instrument, semistructured, qualitative interviews occurred, while utilizing an interview protocol (Appendix D).

The decision to conduct qualitative interviews followed from the need to obtain rich, personalized insight into the lived perceptions about the phenomenon (Miles & Huberman, 1994; Moustakas, 1994). In qualitative research, the researcher uses interview questions that enable interviewees to offer in-depth responses that the parameters of a quantitative method would not. I utilized three sources to support data collection: (a) semistructured interviews, (b) a focus group, and (c) company documentation.

Employees participated in a focus group to provide a variety of employee viewpoints to enrich data collection in support of methodological triangulation. Existing type of company documentation served as the tertiary data collection source. Semistructured interviews consisted of open-ended, follow-up, and probing questions.

The semistructured format proved useful in collecting in-depth information regarding flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Marshall and Rossman (2011) argued that semistructured interviews are the most effective means for the researcher to gain a deep understanding of an individual's experience and fully address the research question. An interview protocol (see Appendix C), sometimes referred to as an *interview guide*, was the secondary instrument throughout the interviews with all participants. Using the same interview guide helped me to establish and ensure the reliability, consistency, and validity of the semistructured interviews.

Member checking served as a tool to assure data validity. Marshall and Rossman (2011) defined member checking as a process whereby the researcher provides selected representatives with the opportunity to review the interpretation of the participants' personal responses in support of data completeness and interpretation accuracy. Study participants had the opportunity to member check my data interpretation to ensure correct explanation of the information they shared during the previous interview. Following data collection and analysis, researchers may wish to integrate member checking to provide research participants with the opportunity to contribute new or additional perspectives on the issue under study (Baxter & Jack, 2008). No study participants wished to alter the documented information captured. The transcript remains as originally written and I

captured additional notes as required. Member checking also assisted in establishing *dependability* in qualitative research (Guba & Lincoln, 1994).

Incorporating a focus group, as well as the assessment of company documentation, also mitigated the chances for introducing bias that can sometimes occur when the researcher relies on just one data source or method. Methodological triangulation is a combination of information sources, such as individuals or data types, used as evidence to analyzing data as a premise that enhances internal validity (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Methodological triangulation assisted in the assertion of data themes. The data were indicative of associated themes across multiple data sources that aided in the assessment, interpretation, and development of conclusions from the information collected.

Data Collection Technique

The primary data collection technique was semistructured interviews. Marshall and Rossman (2011) concluded that semistructured interviews are the most effective strategy for the researcher to gain a deep understanding of an individual's experience and fully address the research question. Researchers use probing questions to obtain the most relevant, accurate, and in-depth information (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). If the study participant did not fully address the question presented or offered an inadequate answer, rephrasing strategies and probing questions stimulated additional, related responses.

Downes and Koekemoer (2012) found that semistructured interviews were an effective approach to learn about how flexible work programs have an impact on employee productivity. Similarly, S. Y. Jang et al. (2012) used semistructured interviews

to explore the various roles of flexibility in workplace schedules. Therefore, I utilized semistructured interviews to explore how flexible work schedules and virtual work programs affect employee productivity.

Pre-existing contacts within the firm assisted with gaining access to my study's participants. The pre-existing contacts ensured that the participants were low-midlevel managers (in-depth interviews) or associates (focus group) and possessed the required experience. E-mail served as the initial contact method with all participants. The *low-pressure* e-mail included high-level information about my study's conduct procedures as well as the informed consent document, which the participants reviewed and consented to prior to the first in person meeting. Participants provided consent via e-mail in advance of the interview. The process required to complete the face-to-face semistructured interviews included a review of study processes and participant roles, agreement to participate in the study by providing e-mail consent, and answering a series of questions to probe the participants' mind and elicit information. I also requested company documentation during the in-depth interviews.

Audio file transcription occurred upon completion of the interviews. Following transcript and note interpretation, I scheduled time with the interview participants for member checking procedures to assist with ensuring the reliability and validity of the data. Study participants had the opportunity to member check my data interpretation (synthesis) to ensure correct explanation of the information they shared during the previous interview. Conclusions and recommendations followed data analysis. The following community stakeholders will receive a high-level summary of the study results

via e-mail: (a) research participants, (b) immediate family, and (c) the research site contact.

In addition to conducting three semistructured interviews with low to mid-level business executives, I used a focus group to capture a consensus of employee experiences pertaining to flexible work schedules and virtual work program to enhance data collection for methodological triangulation. Existing company documentation served as the tertiary data collection source. Case study researchers often opt to review existing documentation related to the research questions (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011). During the facilitation of the in-depth interviews, I requested copies of the company's related documentation.

I reviewed the current work—life benefit workplace documentation of the employer, focusing on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Case study researchers benefit from incorporating multiple forms of sources into their data collection strategies. Assimilating more than one data source helped assure the findings' validity as the various units of data are merged together to support a greater understanding of the case (Baxter & Jack, 2008). Including semistructured interviews and a focus group, coupled with a review of current policy documentation, strengthened the findings and lead to a greater understanding of the case.

The selection of the appropriate method, design, and instrumentation ensured the assembly of accurate data and enabled the formation of accurate conclusions (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). Interview protocols serve as one of the most popular instruments in qualitative research (Turner, 2010). An interview protocol (see Appendix E) served as a secondary instrument throughout the interviews with all participants. As Marshall and

Rossman (2011) noted, using the same guide helped me to establish and ensure the reliability and validity of the semistructured interviews. The interview process assisted in measuring the personal perceptions of the participants.

Data saturation occurs when no new data add findings or themes (Bowen, 2008). Marshall and Rossman (2011) stated that additional interviews might be required until the researcher achieves data saturation. Utilizing 60 in-depth interviews, Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) used data saturation as a qualitative research technique to ensure exhaustion of new data information or themes. Therefore, I performed member checking interviews to gain more in-depth information and reach data saturation.

The population was narrow enough to produce a clear outcome based on the qualitative data obtained throughout the interviews and ensured flexibility to support data saturation. An hour maximum time limit was set for each of the semistructured interviews. I carefully considered the length of the interview time based upon the quality and content of the information provided and introduction of new perspectives. I used flip charts to assist me in capturing the focus group data, which with the agreement of the six employee participants, I synthesized throughout the working session.

Data Organization Techniques

Data organization was a critical component for analyzing and interpreting my study's data. Case study research requires ongoing organization, examination and interpretation of the data, unlike other forms of research (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011). I organized the data from the study using an electronic filing system to support simplicity and ease of data retrieval. The data and supporting document components included (a)

informed consent agreement, (b) company permission letter, (c) interview transcripts and interpretation of each interview data for member checking, (d) focus group data, and (e) company documentation.

Data organization and analysis assists the researcher in answering the research questions (Basurto & Speer, 2012). A transcriptionist transcribed the data into Microsoft Word. I stored the data on a password-protected laptop and retained hard copies locked in a cabinet within my home. I am storing data in both electronic and hard copy format within my home for 5 years. After the 5 year retention period has passed, I will destroy the portable USB device and shred the relevant hard copies.

Data Analysis Technique

Data analysis and interpretation are two important components of the research process (Basurto & Speer, 2012). An audio recorder (and backup recorder) captured the conversations of each in-depth interview and focus group session. A hired transcriptionist transcribed the data into Microsoft Word. After data collection and post member checking, I triangulated the interview data, focus group data, and company documentation. Data analysis assists researchers in answering the research questions (Basurto & Speer, 2012). Methodological triangulation assisted in my identifying themes that aided in the assessment, interpretation, and conclusions of the information collected.

Participants may be more inclined to produce open and honest results if they are aware that the recorded interview responses will remain confidential (Ivey, 2012). The organization name, along with participant names were not disclosed. Demographic details and site descriptions were limited to maximize participant protection. Random participant

codes represented each study participant. Utilization of this code preserved the identity of each of the interviewees. The code was helpful in organizing and classifying the data after the interviews were complete. A professional transcriptionist entered the interview data from my recording to a Word document. I analyzed and summarized the study results based on the (a) coded transcripts, (b) detailed notes, (c) flip chart data, and (d) company documentation.

Coding and categorization allowed classification, sorting, and arrangement of the information in the most efficient, uniform manner (Basurto & Speer, 2012). Once sorted properly, I assessed the information to seek themes that support the findings of common themes or trends (Bishop & Lexchin, 2013). Based on emerging themes, an assessment of potential spillover from work to family or family to work occurred. This assessment determined how spillover theory explains flexible work schedules, and virtual work programs, and how flexible work schedule and virtual workplace policies can affect employee productivity.

Delineation was another crucial step in the explication process of data analysis.

During the delineation stage, I focused on the statements that were the most clarifying in relation to the study topic. Extraction of the relative statements occurred followed by clustering. It was important to maintain substantial personal discretion and judgment; the researcher must bracket his or her own presuppositions to achieve maximum results (Groenewald, 2004). Clusters of themes emerged as evaluation of the statements occurred, revealing similar units of meaning. The researcher may notice and should expect to see an overlap in clusters (Groenewald, 2004).

During this time, I also noted important topics, also referred to as units of significance (Groenewald, 2004). Groenewald (2004) indicated that central themes make themselves present after a thorough analysis of the data and clusters. Clustering and analyzing the collected data assisted in developing themes across flexible work schedules and virtual work programs and the subsequent effect on employee productivity. Once the data was coded, categorized, and clustered, triangulation occurred, incorporating three data sources, followed by the assertion of common themes.

Triangulation refers to crosschecking data from multiple sources. Triangulation is the process of aligning multiple perspectives and leads to a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Using methodological triangulation, I identified themes across multiple data sources, that aided in the assessment, interpretation, and conclusion of the information collected. Triangulation can occur through the use of multiple data sources, multiple methods of data collection (individuals, focus groups), multiple data collectors (a minimum of two interviewers), multiple data collection points (same participant interviewed several times over a defined time period), or multiple theories (utilizing theories from various disciplines) (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). The four types and definitions of triangulation include (a) data: time, space, and persons; (b) investigator: multiple researchers; (c) theoretical: using more than one theoretical theme to interpret the phenomenon; and (d) methodological: more than one method to gather data such as interviews, observations, and documents (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). I conducted methodological triangulation in this study via three data collection sources, including three in-depth interviews, a focus group of employee

perspectives, and company documentation reviews.

Member checking also served as a tool to increase the accuracy and credibility of the data. Throughout the analysis phase, careful consideration for design, approach, and processes helped to ensure the study results were reliable and valid. Based on the emerging data trends, I focused on key themes and compared the key themes with the literature (inclusive of newly published studies), as well as the spillover theory. Hill et al. (2013) suggested that what supports (either negatively or positively) the conditions in the work microsystem will spill over into the family microsystem and vice versa. Hill et al. added that time, energy, organization, and behavior can be strong determinants of work—life balance. Hill et al. posited that if work-family dynamics leave little room for flexibility, then negative spillover in terms of time, energy, and behavior results. Post data and literature analysis indicated potential spillover from work to family, or family to work, can influence the desire for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative research requires an imaginative, expressive, and inventive approach to assessing quality (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). In qualitative research, a rich description of interview content can support the ability to draw accurate and valid outcomes based on patterns of behaviors. The design and data of the study must support the ability to make accurate conclusions (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). Qualitative researchers have presented varying perspectives on the meaning and applicability of assuring and assessing studies' reliability and validity. Moustakas (1994) stated that reliability is a direct result of data collection that allows for study replication in an

alternative setting. Patton (2002) noted that qualitative researchers should carefully consider reliability and validity while planning a study design, analyzing data results, and assessing the overall quality of the study. If the goal of conducting research is to evoke reliable and valid information, then the most critical aspect of a qualitative study is the quality of the information retrieved. The selection of the appropriate method and instrument ensures the assembly of accurate data and enables the formation of accurate conclusions (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2013).

Reliability

An interview protocol (see Appendix E) served as the secondary instrument throughout the interviews with all participants. Using the same guide with the same questions in consecutive order helped me to establish and ensure the reliability of the semistructured interviews. Guba and Lincoln (1994) proposed the notion of *dependability* as an alternative criterion for judging the reliability and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Dependability requires the researcher to consider the constant changes within the context of which the research occurs (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Dependability is not measureable and needs to be established using other qualitative means, such as member checking and triangulation (Guba & Lincoln, 1994).

Marshall and Rossman (2011) defined member checking as a process whereby the researcher provides selected representatives with the opportunity to review the interpretation of the participants' personal responses in support of data completeness and interpretation accuracy. I included member checking in this study to provide the interviewees with the opportunity to clarify the interpretation and possibly furnish

supplemental perspectives on the study (Buchanan & Hvizdak, 2009). Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines served as the foundation throughout conducting this study. Following the IRB guidelines maximized the protection of human subjects, as well as increased the reliability of the study processes and avoided potential data corruption. Introducing bias, whether intentional or not, could negatively affect the validity of the data.

Validity

Validity threats include flawed processes and personal bias. As with study reliability, Guba and Lincoln (1994) proposed the construct of qualitative *credibility* as an alternative criterion for judging the internal validity in qualitative research. The concept of credibility emphasizes that because qualitative research describes a phenomenon from a participant's perspective, the study participants are the only sources who can accurately assess and validate the truth of the data and the credibility of the conclusions (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Methodological triangulation also further supports and enhances credibility.

Guba and Lincoln also proposed the notion of *transferability* as an alternative criterion for judging the external validity of qualitative research. Transferability refers to the degree to which the researcher can generalize or transfer qualitative research results to other settings (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Marshall and Rossman (2011) discussed that transferability should be left to the researcher planning the next study.

Methodological triangulation is a combination of information sources, such as individuals or data types, used in analyzing data as a premise that enhances credibility

(Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Methodological triangulation also mitigates the chances for introducing bias that can sometimes occur when the researcher uses only one data source or method. During the course of the interviews, the researcher must remain unbiased to the subject matter. Moustakas (1994) noted that *epoché* is the first step of the reduction process. Personal views and judgments must be set aside to avoid compromising the integrity of the data. To achieve epoché, researchers must be cognizant of avoiding predeterminations and rely solely on the study data provided (Moustakas, 1994). Similar to bracketing, it was important for me to maintain substantial personal discretion and judgment, and *bracket* presuppositions to achieve valid results (Groenewald, 2004).

Data saturation occurs when no new data add to current findings or themes (Bowen, 2008). Marshall and Rossman (2011) stated that additional interviews might be required until the researcher achieves data saturation. Utilizing 60 in-depth interviews, Guest, Bunce, and Johnson (2006) used data saturation as a qualitative research technique to ensure exhaustion of new data information or themes. Additional interviews may be required until the researcher achieves data saturation. Bowen (2008) stated data saturation has occurred when (a) no new data emerge, (b) no new themes emerge, (c) no new coding is needed, and (d) one can replicate the study to achieve the same results. Data saturation requires that the target population be narrow enough to produce a clear outcome based on the qualitative data obtained throughout the interviews, and ensure flexibility. Therefore, I assured data saturation existed prior to completing my exploration of the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Follow-up interviews sand member checking sessions supported information-rich cases and data

saturation. Utilizing this approach strengthened the assurance of validity of the data.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included an in-depth view into the study design by reiterating the focus of the project and the associated details of the study plan. Providing further detailed information regarding the (a) research method, (b) study design, (c) population sample, and (d) data collection techniques, served as a strategy to enhance reliability and validity. Section 3 includes interview data, focus group findings, and company documents with my interpretations, analysis, and presentation of key themes. I relate my findings to the conceptual framework and current literature to provide the (a) study conclusions, (b) application to professional practice, (c) implications for social change, and (d) personal recommendations.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Sections 1 and 2 provided an explanation of why this study is important to business leaders, as well as detailed information on the study design and implementation procedures. This final section includes (a) the interview data, (b) focus group findings, (c) company documents along with my interpretations, (d) results analysis, and (e) presentation of key themes. I relate my findings to the study's conceptual framework, as well as to other relevant theories and the existing body of relevant literature to provide (a) study conclusions, (b) application to professional practice, (c) implications for social change, and (d) personal recommendations.

Overview of Study

The purpose of this qualitative, explorative single case study was to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. Through qualitative research, one can develop an understanding of the participants' views and experiences (Montero-Marín et al., 2013). The format of qualitative interviews allowed for open-ended questions that represented the basis for the in-depth exploration of the phenomenon (Marshall & Rossman, 2011), and addressing the research question. The conceptual framework for this study stemmed from the spillover theory.

Prior to the 1970s, members of society traditionally considered work and family domains separate entities; however, the concept of considering work and family separate domain entities has since evolved into shared, inter-connected platforms (Pleck, 1977). Spillover theory dictates that spillover can be either positive or negative (Hill et al.,

2013). This explanation includes a multidimensional model, whereby work-family spillover can flow in variation as follows: (a) work-to-family positive spillover, (b) family-to-work negative spillover, (c) family-to-work positive spillover, and (d) work-to-family negative spillover.

I explored the following central research question: What strategies do business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs? Based on predefined criteria, three midlevel managers participated in three separate series of individual interviews. Each of the managerial study participants responded to a series of the same 10 open-ended questions. Probing questions aided in receiving detailed level of responses. The use of probing questions elicits in-depth responses resulting in an abundance of data (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). I also facilitated a focus group session of six company employees who provided their collective input on flexible work schedules and virtual work for employees as opposed to managers to provide a well-rounded, comprehensive view from cross-segments of the respective organization.

After professional transcription of the data, methodological triangulation assisted in the definition and verification of derivative themes across multiple data sources, that aided in the assessment, interpretation, and conclusion of the information collected. The focus group participants and I synthesized the data at the time of the focus group session. Company documentation served as the tertiary data source. After signing a waiver, the human resources department provided me with three company policy documents including: (a) Telecommuting Policy, (b) Flexible/Alternative Work Schedule Policy, and (c) Flexible Working Regulation-Bothwell.

Presentation of the Findings

This section contains an introduction to the various themes that emerged from exploring the study's data. Based on the central research question, data analysis of participant responses subsequently identified a total of five core themes that pertained to the various strategies that business leaders use for developing, implementing, and maintaining flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The findings related to managerial strategies regarding (a) employee productivity, (b) working hours, (c) communication, (d) virtual office setups, (e) job satisfaction, and (f) quality of life. This presentation of findings intentionally excluded redundant information and extraneous data.

Theme 1: Standard Set of Virtual Working Hours

Promote a standard set of core working hours (minimal required) based on geographical demands and time-zone variations enabling consistent coverage for designated time-blocks, while offering employee schedule flexibility to start early or end late.

The *standard set of virtual working hours* finding was new to the best of my knowledge as I did not uncover this specific strategy when reviewing the historical or newly published body of literature. The concept of the standard set of virtual working hours theme is to maintain a level of accountability for a predetermined set of working hours and encourage built-in flexibility to satisfy work–life balance, while ensuring seamless global coverage. This theme directly relates to the conceptual framework (spillover model) for this study. Konrad and Yang (2012) stated that the availability and

usage of work-life benefits allow employees to perform effectively in both their work and family roles. Based on this finding, Konrad and Yang concluded that equal balance or harmony in fulfilling both roles produces positive and productive outcomes. There was a clear theme across respondents from both the managerial interviews and focus group session.

For example, M02 noted the following:

We would allow flexible work schedules but we would still need a set of kind of defined core hours that everyone needed to be together. It would be maybe approximately a 6-hour block. We do a lot of collaborative work and if everyone's active working different hours it's kind of hard to do that collaboration. We will set these core hours whether it's between 10:00 and 4:00 or something like that, and then people could start as early as they want, because you always have the people who like to work early as they have commitments later on... or if they like to work late, we would just allow that to be whatever they needed. But as long as you were kind of there during that time, we knew we could schedule meetings and we could count on everyone to be there at that time.

Respondent M01 provided similar input and noted that flexible shifts in work schedules are often required considering globalization and the accommodation of various time-zones, with shifts ending earlier or later than defined core working hours. Similarly, FG01 noted that, "It's a positive for my productivity because I work with a Hungarian team, so I can work on their time zone and have that flexibility and then end my day early basically." The document entitled *Flexible/Alternative Work Schedule Policy* also

contained the same theme, identifying "Core hours as 9:00 -3:30 p.m. Monday through Friday (may vary by company site)." This document also corroborated the aforementioned evidence and supported flex—time as "A block of time at the start and end of traditional work days during which employees may report and complete their required hours of work. These hours are 7:00 a.m. – 9:00 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. – 5:30 p.m. (may vary by site)." Furthermore, this policy document also indicated that employees are expected to work an 8 hour shift, exclusive of lunch, including core hours (from 9:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m.) "including applicable break periods and Flexible work hours in which the employee may start work between 7:00 and 9:00 a.m. and stop work between 3:30 and 5:30 p.m."

Theme 2: Increased Virtual Communication

In support of implementing or maintaining flexible work schedules and virtual work programs, require and frequently enforce increased use of communication tools to demand employee availability and proactively prevent non-responsiveness, including but not limited to Instant Messenger, Skype, and Webex.

The *increased virtual communication* theme aligned to the historical and new supportive body of literature and relates to the adaptive structuration theory. The adaptive structuration theory focuses on the formation of group structures and their influence on communication and decision making (Ghiyoung, 2014). Adaptive structuration theory pertains to the evolution and development of teams and organizations. The adaptive structuration theory addresses the interactions of groups via information technology (Ghiyoung, 2014). Employees utilizing information technology for their daily tasks

dynamically establish discernments about the role and utility of the technology (Ghiyoung, 2014).

In this case study, as the employees shifted to a completely remote workforce and continued formation of their new working model, the structuration process called for increased communication (via instant messenger and Skype). As the groups evolved, team members became more engaged and reliant on information technology due to the variance in distance and location across the organization. The supervisory perception was that increased communication (via information technology) was paramount to achieve and maintain maximum employee accessibility and accountability.

Greer and Payne (2014) explored outcomes of telework challenges and successful teleworker strategies. Supervisors conveyed that the most frequently mentioned telework challenge was communication (Greer & Payne, 2014). Greer and Payne also noted that both managers and employees believed that *being accessible* was key to showing availability, strengthening relationships, and maintaining communications across the team. The study results indicated that the use of (a) advanced technology, (b) communicating, (c) task planning, and (d) striving for heightened productivity all contributed to virtual success (Greer & Payne, 2014).

In a subsequent and similar study, Lockwood (2015) utilized (a) surveys, (b) interviews, (c) document reviews, and (d) meeting observations to gain an increased understanding of virtual work teams. Lockwood determined that virtual workplace communication is becoming increasingly prevalent for business meetings. Business leaders are demanding increased communication when functioning in alternative

workplace models (Lockwood, 2015). Similarly, Olariu and Aldea (2014) concurred with both Lockwood (2015) and Greer and Payne (2014), and noted that virtual work models require increased levels of communication from all team members. Effective communication plays the most important role in achieving virtual teams' success (Olariu & Aldea, 2014).

Maximizing communication can compensate for the lack of face-to-face interaction when working remotely. Respondent M03 noted that "waiting for answers" was a significant challenge when the company shifted from a traditional office setup to a virtual workforce and that it was difficult to figure out how to communicate with others at times. As a result, all employees were required to be available via Instant Messenger and Skype. The outcome of this strategy resulted in maximized communication, accountability, and increased cross-team collaboration.

Participant M01 responded similarly concurring that virtual work programs require employees to be "extra communicative, setup with WebEx and other collaboration tools so that they're continually involved," and that "IM technology has made flexible work schedules and virtual work schedules a lot better." Study findings indicated that there is a heightened level of accountability required for virtual workers. Respondent M02 also communicated that employees "need to just be available on those things (office communicator, instant messenger) kind of 24/7." The document entitled Telecommuting Policy indicated that the employee and manager will agree on "the manner and frequency of communication." The telecommuting policy document also contained similar themes regarding communication strategies indicating that the

employee will agree "to be accessible by phone or on-line during the agreed upon work schedule."

Theme 3: Establish Remote Office Setup

When instituting a virtual work program, provide and compensate employees for all related technical equipment in support of establishing a successful virtual working environment, including a laptop, printer, cell phone, and Internet.

The historical body of supporting literature included limited references regarding the establishment of remote office setups. Establishing remote office setups appeared to have no direct relationship to the spillover model; however, establishment of remote office setups relates to Herzberg's motivator-hygiene theory. Under this theory, situational job characteristics have the potential to influence employee job satisfaction (Hauff, Richter, & Tressin, 2015). High rates of employee job satisfaction are associated with high commitment levels and high productivity (Rama Devi & Nagini, 2013). Herzberg, Mausner, and Snyderman (1959) indicated that job satisfaction and dissatisfaction act independently of each other. According to Herzberg's motivatorhygiene theory, job satisfaction antecedents are classified into motivational factors- such as work, recognition, responsibility, and growth, as well as hygiene factors- such as company policy, pay, supervisory practices, and co-worker relationships (Herzberg et al., 1959). According to Herzberg et al. (1959), hygiene factors are the main contributors to employee dissatisfaction in the workplace. Herzberg et al. considered the following hygiene factors ranked highest of importance to lowest: (a) company policy, (b) supervision, (c) employee-boss relationship, (d) work conditions, (e), salary, and (f) peer

relationships. In this case study, the evidence clearly indicated that the company's telecommuting policy in support of the establishment of remote office setups positively influenced employee job satisfaction.

Rodriguez (2013) noted that operative and effective technology is a primary enabler in the design and execution of a successful remote workforce program that benefits both employees and businesses. In a more recent study, Greer and Payne (2014) concluded that communication coupled with the use of advanced technology contributed to virtual success. While fundamental, this notion was an important and common theme across both the managers as well as among the focus group participants.

Supporting the existing body of literature, respondent M02 noted that a laptop enables the remote worker to "move around and work from wherever," that the company would "pay for your phone or give you a cell phone and would also pay for your Internet if you were working from home." Respondent M03 also stated that the company will, "provide them (the employees) all of their equipment" including "laptop, desktop, printer, and cell phone, as well as pay for their (the employee's) Internet." The interviews and company documentation revealed that the extent to which these items are granted has the potential to slightly vary depending on an employee's remote needs.

The document entitled *Telecommuting Policy* further corroborated this theme indicating that the corporation "will determine, with information supplied by the employee and supervisor, the appropriate equipment needs (including hardware, software, modems, internet connectivity, phone and data lines, facsimile equipment or software, photocopiers, etc.) for each telecommuting arrangement on a case-by-case

basis." The telecommuting policy document also identified similar themes regarding virtual office setup inclusive of the organization reimbursing the employee "for all business-related expenses such as phone calls, shipping costs, etc., that are reasonably incurred in accordance with job responsibilities."

Theme 4: Program Assessment and Monitoring

Flexible work schedules and virtual work programs increase employee job satisfaction and employee productivity; however, these programs require careful monitoring. It is critical that they are a good fit for both the individual employee and the particular job at hand.

The body of literature primarily supported this theme. In a new study recently published in 2015, on working outside of a traditional office, Kojo and Nenonen concluded that working from home is not a widely practical solution in *all* cases. Virtual work programs may not be a good fit, such as when family distractions are present (Kojo & Nenonen, 2015). Managers must ensure that the respective employee and job task are best suited for this type of alternative work arrangement.

A number of factors pertaining to work—life benefit programs may affect employee job involvement and sense of competence, which lead to job satisfaction and performance (Pawar, 2013). Stout et al. (2013) found that work—life benefit programs could be a positive, beneficial option for both the employer and employee, as long as the worker is a responsible worker. In contrast, if the employee is irresponsible, work—life benefit programs could be to blame. Mohammadi and Shahrabi (2013) found that various working components, including quality of work life and working conditions, influenced

employee job satisfaction. Mohammadi and Shahrabi indicated that positive spillover from a high degree of satisfaction in one's quality of personal life, crosses over into their professional working domain and vice versa, further supporting the spillover-crossover conceptual model (Hill et al., 2013).

The spillover model also supports this theme. Hill et al. (2013) suggested that what supports or hinders the work microsystem will spill over into the family microsystem and vice versa. Hill et al. added that time, energy, organization, and behavior can be strong determinants of work—life balance. Hill et al. posited that if work-family dynamics leave little room for flexibility, then negative spillover in terms of time, energy, and behavior results.

The majority of the managers and focus group employees were in agreement that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs provide a high degree of value from both a satisfaction and productivity standpoint. However, it should be noted that there was one focus group participant who thought and voiced differently at times. From a company perspective, M01 noted that these work arrangements also "get them (employees) working longer hours which is important when you're looking at things like globalization." M01 also noted that he/she is a big proponent of flexible work schedules and that flexible work schedules can be "taken overboard," but that the "concept is a good one." M01 further stated that virtual work programs are a "dramatic way to improve employee satisfaction; however the company has to be supportive of it and if the company does not support the employee and there is not a good policy in place it is a dissatisfactor." M02 noted that "it (flexible work) increases their productivity if they're

(employees) working the hours they want to work." M02 followed up with "If you're not a morning person but you're set to work at 6:00 in the morning, well you're going to take a few hours to get going and you're not going to be as productive in those first couple of hours."

M02 concluded that "for most people, it increases productivity being at home because I think you don't have as many distractions." However, respondent M03 noted that the "first thing that somebody should decide when they implement the flexible work schedule is what tasks are they doing, and what is their role on the team." M03 also stated that "when you provide somebody with flexibility, I do think job satisfaction goes up to balance work and home," however, M03 also noted that some people are better suited for working at home than others and that self-discipline plays a big role in determining which employees are better suited for telework.

FG01 stated that "You gain almost 2 hours back of your day not commuting."

This is added value not only to the employee, but the company as well. Respondent M01 stated that virtual work is good for the employee that is "capable" and "mature." M01 followed up and stated that it's "good for the company as well" however, "you have to recognize the communication challenges... and do everything you can to increase your communications." M02 indicated that it "takes the right person" and a "certain mindset." M03 concurred and stated that "it's not for some people," that there "needs to be consideration of the work that needs to get done" and "if it's a good fit it (virtual work) increases job satisfaction." M03 also noted that some work, such as new product development is not a good fit for telework as it requires significant collaboration, and

concluded by saying this type of work "needs to be managed closely so it doesn't affect productivity."

The company policy document entitled *Telecommuting Policy* corroborated this evidence and considers "telecommuting to be a viable alternative work arrangement in certain cases where individual, job, and supervisor characteristics are best suited to such an arrangement, without jeopardizing our commitment to our customers and balancing obligations to other key stakeholders." The same company policy document also indicated that telecommuting "may be appropriate for some employees and some jobs."

Another key point for consideration where there was alignment across the data sources, is that the majority of respondents felt that some form of a social gathering is beneficial on a regular basis. This social gathering may include, but was not limited to, team building events, monthly luncheons, or casual get togethers. The consensus was that social interaction replaces the typical water cooler conversations. M02 noted in their member checking session that "getting people together on a regular basis for a lunch or team building event increases team morale and benefits productivity." Similarly, and further supporting M02's propositioin, M03 noted that "When they closed down the office and everyone went remote, we had a monthly lunch that we kept going for a couple of years, actually. We'd meet monthly and we'd see each other face-to-face." M03 also expressed that the company's managers strive to incorporate an element of personal conversation into their one-on-one meetings with employees. The overall consensus was that virtual workers require an increased level of social interaction due to the nature of their isolated work. M02 indicated that social interaction and that personal conversation

help to build trust. Trust is an important factor that influences team collaboration and group productivity (C.-Y. Jang, 2013).

It was clear from this study's interview and focus group data that virtual work programs affect every employee differently depending on the individual and personal circumstances outside of work. The majority of study participants indicated that virtual work programs have the potential to generate blurred boundaries between personal and professional responsibilities. Flexible time-space workplace policies often result in blurred boundaries between work and home life (Valoura, 2013). Technological advances are providing workers with increased location flexibility; however, it is important to discuss potential drawbacks and work-life conflict issues (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014). Virtual work programs may foster a greater sense of work-life balance and increased productivity in the workplace; however, remote workplace policies can cause negative spillover into the home domain (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014). Employees may feel an obligation to check e-mail and work all hours of the day into the evening, on the weekends, and while on vacation (Adkins & Premeaux, 2014). Changing work environments, coupled with increasing access to technology, can result in gray lines between life and work (Burg-Brown, 2013). Problematically, home-based work often blurs the separation of these two spheres (Ojala, Natti, & Anttila, 2014).

Spillover is a process by which one person's experience in one domain affects his or her experiences in another domain (Naithani, 2010). Spillover theory dictates that spillover can be both positive and negative. The spillover theory includes a multidimensional model, whereby work-family spillover can flow in variation as follows:

(a) work-to-family positive spillover, (b) family-to-work negative spillover, (c) family-to-work positive spillover, and (d) work-to-family negative spillover (Hill et al., 2013). Supporting the spillover model, if a remote employee has difficulty detaching from their work at home, there is the potential that work may cause spillover into the employee's personal life, causing a negative or potentially positive result (depending on the individual).

Respondent M01 indicated that they personally "struggle with that (blurred boundaries)" and also noted that employees struggle with blurred boundaries as well, consistently "feeling a need to respond" during non-working hours, creating negative spillover from work-to-family. However, a consistent trend in the data showed that having the opportunity to work additional hours (a remote setup) increases employee productivity. M02 responded with the following:

If you're going to the office you typically keep your equipment here, so when you get home, while you do have that nice shut off of I'm unplugged now... maybe I've got my phone and I can check some e-mails and things. Whereas you're at home, you don't really have that, so I think again it increases productivity, because now people go eat dinner or I gotta take my son to the game and I can still spend 2 hours being very productive because I have my whole set up at home. I have all my files, I have my computer, I've got my 3 monitors, whatever it is. I can do that at night.

In this particular instance, there is a positive spillover from work to family. However, the data were indicative that virtual work programs affect each individual differently. FG01

indicated:

When I'm working from home I work more hours. I lose track of time, so I just keep going and then because I leave my computer on during the week, when I go by it, if I kept wondering if I've got a response from e-call, I'll go back in and I'll start doing some things or checking e-mails, following up on...

Other FG participants noted that there are often issues with work to family and family to work spillover regarding their children and their availability as a parent in the house. Working (being) at home does not equate to always being available despite what their family members may think. Another FG participant noted that with several children at home things are "extremely blurred." Whereas another FG participant explained that there were no blurred boundaries "I have my own room. I have my set of rules. When I'm working nobody bothers me, no matter what, just like I'm in the office basically." While virtual work programs affect every employee differently depending on the individual and their personal circumstances, the consensus was that all FG participants felt more of a responsibility to work after hours considering they all have remote office setups, which in turn can be an infringement on their family time, although increasing the remote employees' productivity.

Theme 5: Promote Quality of Life

Managers and employees both place extraordinary value on the option of flexible work schedules and virtual work programs as these practices promote better quality of life and cohesive management of personal and professional commitments.

The body of literature primarily supported this theme. Armache (2013) noted that

managers who implement work—life balance practices enable their employees by reducing stress levels and increasing motivation, dedication, and commitment, which in turn increase productivity. Research also suggested that flexible timing in work schedules results in improved job satisfaction and overall balance of work and family commitments (Tuttle & Garr, 2012). Martin and MacDonnell (2012) noted that employees who have more control over their work schedule and location generally experience less work—life conflict, greater job satisfaction, and increased productivity. Overall, telecommuters report less work-family conflict (Goodman, 2013).

Galea, Houkes, and De Rijk (2014) conducted a qualitative, exploratory case study to gain a better understanding of how employees experience the influence of flexible work schedules on their personal work—life balance. Fifteen employees across five international organizations participated in semi-structured interviews lasting approximately one hour each (Galea, Houkes, & De Rijk, 2014). Galea, Houkes, and De Rijk utilized data driven thematic analysis to assist in assessment and identification of common trends and corresponding themes across the data. The principal finding was that working a flexible schedule is greatly beneficial for individuals as they try to balance both personal and professional obligations (Galea, Houkes, & De Rijk, 2014). However, management must be supportive of the flexible work schedule philosophy (Galea, Houkes, & De Rijk, 2014). Galea, Houkes, and De Rijk determined that business leaders must be strategically aligned across the organization and committed to empowering employee work—life balance.

As seen in the body of literature, the spillover theory also supports the promote

quality of life theme. Konrad and Yang (2012) stated that the availability and usage of work—life benefits allows employees to perform effectively in both their work and family roles. Based on this finding, Konrad and Yang concluded that equal balance or harmony in fulfilling both roles produces positive and productive outcomes.

The majority of the study participants, including both managers as well as the focus group participants, were in agreement that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs add overall immense value to employees. Respondent M01 indicated that they are a "big believer" in flexible and virtual work programs and that these programs "drive employee satisfaction." M01 also stated that it allows good employees to "get a payback so they don't feel bad about doing some things they need to do during the day."

Interestingly, respondent M01 indicated they were *surprised* at how positive his responses actually were after seeing them documented on paper. During member checking procedures, when asked if they wished to alter any of the information presented or add to their responses, the participant explained that they did not have anything further to add. M01 also indicated that the reflections captured within the member checking document were an accurate interpretation and representation of their interview responses.

Respondent M03 concurred with M01 and indicated that "giving people the flexibility that they need to manage their personal life, the job satisfaction goes up." Respondent M03 had nothing futher to add during the member checking session. Respondent M02 made a reference to a popular saying, "Is life getting in the way of your work?" M02 subsequently noted that "having a flexible work schedule allows those things to come and go a bit easier."

FG01 noted that flexible work schedules "make me like my job so much more, so much more" and that flexible work scheduling "reduces so much stress out of my mind and that it will make me put up with a lot more crap in my job that would otherwise make me walk." FG01 also conveyed that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs were absolute motivators and primary drivers for job criteria. At one point in their career FG01 was planning on leaving the company; however, the company then offered flexibility and the option to work remotely so they stayed. FG01 also noted that a shift in the working paradigm to come back into a traditional work environment is "demotivating and it brings back a lot of negative feelings." FG01 also stated that "If things continue and it goes back to 100% needing to be in the office everyone will be less happy."

The consensus of the focus group participants was that having the option to partake in a flexible work schedule and virtual work program provides a better "quality of life." The company document entitled *Flexible/Alternative Work Schedule Policy* further corroborated this theme and noted:

Wherever practical, the company will provide flexibility to employees as a means to promote work—life balance and position us a progressive employer for which to work. Subject to approvals, ... alternative scheduling may be available to employees in meeting their personal work performance goals and family needs.

Applications to Professional Practice

This study's findings were significant to professional business practices in several ways. The findings of this study revealed leaders' and employees' views within one company about the strategies that business leaders use for alternative work programs.

Business leaders who are currently employing, or who wish to consider or implement flexible work schedule or virtual work programs, require current information on how flexible work schedules and virtual work program policies affect their corporations.

Providing employees with the option to customize where and when they work can create positive opportunities for balance, both inside and outside of the workplace; however, business leaders must understand how flexible work models affect productivity within their organizations (Pawar, 2013). Business leaders seek information about how their current policies may or may not affect employee productivity as flexible work schedules and virtual work policies may affect overall productivity and companies' earnings (Pawar, 2013). Publishing the results of this study might provide business leaders information about the potential effects that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs have on employee productivity.

Armache (2013) noted that managers who implement work—life balance practices enable their employees by reducing stress levels and increasing motivation, dedication, and commitment, which in turn increase productivity. Goodman (2013) agreed with Armache and argued that telecommuters report less work-family conflict. Findings from this study also demonstrated how work—life benefit programs affect employee productivity. Chief executive officers seek to understand and consider the effects of productivity and financial performance on their businesses (Giberson & Miklos, 2013). Data from this study provided business leaders with the foundational knowledge to assess whether their current workplace policies maximize productivity within their organization. Findings and conclusions from this study may assist in preparing organizational leaders

to assess their current work-life benefit policies.

Based on the conclusions and recommendations in this study, leaders may gain relevant work—life benefit policy knowledge, enabling them to (a) review their internal policies, (b) identify strategies to improve business policies or job requirement approaches, and (c) potentially influence industry policy standards. Businesses' leaders may be sacrificing gains due to unsatisfied, stagnant employees who struggle with managing their professional and personal commitments. Businesses leaders may also be unintentionally curtailing productivity and financial growth by not optimizing workplace policies.

Moreover, the research findings revealed five major themes, one of which identified as a new finding, not previously identified in the literature. Based on the research outcomes, the study results provided the basis for recommendations for strategic action as well as further studies. Therefore, stakeholders may find the recommendations useful in their quest to understand the strategies for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Implications for Social Change

Work-life balance is a concern for both corporate leaders and members of society (Kumar & Charkraborty, 2013). Findings from this research add to the existing body of knowledge by providing information on the relationship between flexible work schedules and virtual work programs and employee productivity, as well as recommendations in support of this relationship. This study's findings and recommendations may serve as a basis for positive social change. Study data supported the conclusion that when

effectively implemented and managed, flexible work schedules and virtual work programs may be beneficial in promoting work—life balance for employees. This research may raise awareness in support of developing and implementing related policies.

This study may be of value to society as its findings may better position organizations' leaders for success while positioning individuals to attain optimum balance between their personal and professional relationships. Data analysis indicated there is a fluid relationship between work and home, and business leaders should be aware of how work—life policies affect employees as well as their businesses. As the spillover theory indicates, working individuals generate spillover from work to home and home to work. Spillover can occur in both positive and negative forms.

Business policy improvements may foster a greater sense of quality of life for employees. This sense of a better quality of life has the potential to translate balance into individual's homes, personal relationships, promoting an increased sense of health and well-being. As seen in the presentation of findings, the majority of the study's participants, including both managers as well as the focus group participants, were in agreement that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs overall add value to employees. Furthermore, this study constituted an addition to the body of knowledge about the strategies business leaders use for developing, implementing, and maintaining flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Recommendations for Action

As the researcher, I am personally committed to inform relevant business leaders of these study findings as they relate to organizational practices. Business leaders have an

important role to play in helping to assess and enact where appropriate, work—life business policies that maximize productivity, while addressing employee quality of life. Business leaders are encouraged to be mindful of the results of this study and to educate themselves on the strategies for implementing and maintaining flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

As the findings revealed, flexible work schedules and virtual work programs can increase employee job satisfaction and employee productivity; however, these programs require careful monitoring. Leaders should ensure that the respective employee and job task are best suited for this type of alterntive work arrangement. Work–life benefit programs affect employee job involvement, which can lead to job satisfaction and the overall performance of the organization (Pawar, 2013). Work–life balance and work–life satisfaction may have an impact on productivity in the workplace (Mušura, Korican, & Krajnovic, 2013). Organizations' leaders continue to adopt nontraditional workplace policies, including virtual work programs, in response to the financial savings realized and the unique flexibility these programs can offer (Purvanova, 2014).

In general, this study might be beneficial to key community stakeholders, including business leaders and corporate employees. The following community parties will receive a high-level summary of the study results via e-mail: research participants, immediate family, and the research site. My goal is to publish the results of this study for the broader audience. Wherever possible, I intend to publicize the research results using effective and appropriate platforms such as lectures and seminars. Essentially, the results of this study indicate that there is a need for active business leader engagement and other

key stakeholders to ensure that the proposed recommendations be shared, reviewed, and implemented.

Recommendations for Further Study

The focus of this study was on business leaders and employees who possess pertinent experience on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The study was specific to employees within one global blood management solutions firm. The population consisted of three lower- to middle-level business executives and six employees. I selected both managerial and employee participants as they represent a holistic sample to provide various perspectives on flexible work schedules and virtual work programs strategies. I noted several study limitations and key areas for further research around work—life benefit policies.

Limitations are potential shortcomings of the study that are typically out of the researcher's control (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Study limitations are as follows: (a) small sample size, (b) hour maximum interview time limit, (c) time constraints to conduct the study, and (d) limited researcher expertise. One potential limitation of this study was that it solely focused on one corporation and therefore may only be applicable to that organization as opposed to the entire business field (Downes & Koekemoer, 2012). One recommendation for further research is to include more than one firm for potentially increasing the study's domain of external validity. The sample population is also limited given that the source of participants is a single business area located in the midwestern United States. This limitation is common of qualitative research. Another

small sample size, researchers may not be inclined to accept these study results and conclusions as widely applicable to the workforce based on the limited number of companies (one) that participated in the study. Another limitation is the amount of time permitted for this study due to the inherent nature of the Walden University Doctorate of Business Administration program.

As discussed in the presentation of findings, one major theme that manifests across the managers, focus group, and company documentation involves program assessment and monitoring in an effort to identify those employees and job tasks recommended for virtual work. The study findings indicate that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs overall increase employee job satisfaction and employee productivity; however, these programs require careful monitoring. It is critical that flexible work schedules and virtual work programs are a good fit for both the individual employee and the particular job at hand. A further recommendation for future study is the exploration of employee characteristics and particular jobs that may or may not be suitable for virtual work. Findings from future studies pertaining to flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity may improve organizational practices by further exploring business leaders' strategies on alternative work programs.

Reflections

Given that more than a quarter of employed Americans comprise the virtual workforce (Noonan & Glass, 2012), the current research became crucial at a time when leaders are seeking alternative, non-traditional work programs (Purvanova, 2014). It is

critical that business leaders are sufficiently knowledgeable to identify appropriate strategies for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs to best position their organizations for success. Prior to conducting this research, as well as throughout the research process, I had no preconceived ideas regarding the study topic. As the researcher, I did my personal best to approach the process with an unbiased approach and solely rely on the data to address the answer to the research question.

To my surprise, the managerial study participants were extremely forthcoming in sharing their personal perceptions and lived experiences of flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The focus group panel was equally as engaged, voicing their beliefs and individual experiences. Although we utilized the full two-hour timeslot, it was apparent that we could have continued for an extended duration thereafter. Throughout my data collection process, I was mindful to remain neutral and focus on the task of the interviewer, while doing my best to make the participants feel comfortable and at ease. During data analysis, I carefully examined the data to identify core emergent themes while being mindful to bracket possible personal bias.

The research findings derived from the data represented the essence of the responses that led to a better understanding of the research question. I felt enlightened by the results of the study and learned new knowledge from the findings. The majority of the research participants indicated that alternative work models were a timely topic for the study participants; therefore, this topic generated a plethora of data. I found it inspiring to listen to the study participants recount their personal experiences. Moreover, it was personally fulfilling to add new insights to the body of literature on this topic.

Summary and Study Conclusions

In a workplace of increasing professional demands and competing personal commitments, many corporate leaders are considering alternative work models. However, many business leaders and managers are reluctant to promote family-friendly work practice initiatives (Stout, Awad, & Guzmán, 2013). Some business leaders require an increased understanding of the strategies that other business leaders use for designing, implementing, and managing flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The data collection process included a series of semistructured interviews, followed by a focus group, and the assessment of company documentation. I used methodological triangulation to validate themes across multiple data sources.

Given the in-depth inquiry of study participants and the cross-assessment of multiple data sources, findings from this study serve as an additional source of information about the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. However, this study's findings are most likely not widely applicable due to the time constraints of this study (DBA program) and the associated scale (small single case study). This study's findings and conclusions also resulted in recommendations for action and further research. The study findings may also contribute to social change as they have the potential to inspire business leaders to learn about flexible work schedule and virtual work program strategies, better position organizations for success, while simultaneously positioning individuals to attain an optimum balance between life and work responsibilities.

Post data analysis, five major themes emerged. Building on the spillover model

(conceptual framework), the research findings reveal that both managers and employees clearly place significant value on quality of life programs. The exploration of participants' responses revealed that despite some challenges, when appropriately implemented and monitored, flexible work schedules and virtual work programs can positively influence job satisfaction and employee productivity. The research findings highlight several strategies that business leaders use for developing and deploying policies and practices for implementing and maintaining flexible work schedule and virtual work programs, (a) business leaders should consider promoting a standard set of core working hours, (b) allowing flexible start and end times, (c) establishing remote office setups, (d) maximizing virtual communications, and (e) promoting quality of life.

References

- Aboelmaged, M. G., & El Subbaugh, S. M. (2012). Factors influencing perceived productivity of Egyptian teleworkers: An empirical study. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 16(2), 3–22. doi:10.1108/13683041211230285
- Adkins, C. L., & Premeaux, S. A. (2014). The use of communication technology to manage work-home boundaries. *Journal of Behavioral & Applied Management*, 15, 82–100. Retrieved from http://www.ibam.com/pubs/jbam/
- Ajala, E. M. (2013). Quality of work life and workers wellbeing: The industrial social workers approach. *Ife Psychologia*, 21(2), 46–56. Retrieved from http://www.ifepsychologia.org/content/ife-psychologia
- Armache, J. (2013). A kinder and gentler workplace: A path to employees' retention and organizational productivity. *Conflict Resolution & Negotiation Journal*, 2013(2), 87–98. Retrieved from http://www.franklinpublishing.net/conflictresolution.html
- Basurto, X., & Speer, J. (2012). Structuring the calibration of qualitative data as sets for qualitative comparative analysis (QCA). *Field Methods*, 24, 155–174. doi:10.1177/1525822X11433998
- Baxter, J., & Chesters, J. (2011). Perceptions of work–family balance: How effective are family-friendly policies? *Australian Journal of Labour Economics*, *14*, 139–151. Retrieved from http://business.curtin.edu.au/research/publications/journals/ajle
- Bishop, D., & Lexchin, J. (2013). Politics and its intersection with coverage with evidence development: A qualitative analysis from expert interviews. *BMC Health Services Research*, *13*, 88–113. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-88

- Bockerman, P., & Ilmakunnas, P. (2012). The job satisfaction-productivity nexus: A study using matched survey and register data. *Industrial & Labor Relations*Review, 65, 244–262. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1626126
- Bowen, G. A. (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note. *Qualitative Research*, 8, 137–152. doi:10.1177/1468794107085301
- Buchanan, E. A., & Hvizdak, E. E. (2009). Online survey tools: Ethical and methodological concerns of human research ethics committees. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *4*(2), 37–48. doi:10.1525/jer.2009.4.2.37
- Buonocore, F., & Russo, M. (2013). Reducing the effects of work–family conflict on job satisfaction: The kind of commitment matters. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 23, 91–108. doi:10.1111/j.1748-8583.2011.00187.x
- Burg-Brown, S. (2013). Work–life balance. *Journal of Property Management*, 78, 48–53.

 Retrieved from http://www.irem.org/resources/jpm
- Carlson, D. S., Grzywacz, J. G., & Kacmar, K. M. (2010). The relationship of schedule flexibility and outcomes via the work–family interface. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25, 330–355. doi:10.1108/02683941011035278
- Case, J. M., & Light, G. (2011). Emerging methodologies in engineering education research. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 100, 186–210. doi:10.1002/j.2168-9830.2011.tb00008.x
- Chimote, N., & Srivastava, V. N. (2013). Work–life balance benefits: From the perspective of organizations and employees. *IUP Journal of Management*

- Research, 12(1), 62–73. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/705/ijmr.asp
- Clandinin, D. J., & Connelly, F. M. (2000). *Narrative inquiry: Experience and story in qualitative research*. San Francisco, CA: Wiley.
- Clark, L. A., Karau, S. J., & Michalisin, M. D. (2012). Telecommuting attitudes and the 'big five' personality dimensions. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 13(3), 31–46. Retrieved from http://www.na-jmppopen.html
- Coenen, M., & Kok, R. (2014). Workplace flexibility and new product development performance: The role of telework and flexible work schedules. *European Management Journal*, 32, 564–576. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2013.12.003
- Cross, C. (2010). Barriers to the executive suite: Evidence from Ireland. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 31, 104–119.

 doi:10.1108/01437731011024376
- D'Agostino, M. (2011). Making sense of women's career progression: Utilization of work/life practices in state government agencies. *Public Administration and Management*, *16*, 95–115. Retrieved from http://www.spaef.com/pam.php
- D'Agostino, M., & Levine, H. (2010). The career progression of women in state government agencies. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 25, 22–36. doi:10.1108/17542411011019913
- Dash, M., Annand, V., & Gangadharan, A. (2012). Perceptions of work–life balance among IT professionals. *IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 11, 51–65. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/Organizational_Behavior.asp
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y.S. (2011). Sage handbook of qualitative research (4th ed.).

- Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dimovski, V., Skerlavaj, M., & Man, M. K. (2010). Comparative analysis of mid-level women managers' perception of the existence of "glass ceiling" in Singaporean and Malaysian organizations. *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, *9*, 61–77. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/IBER
- Doble, N., & Supriya, M. V. (2010). Gender differences in the perception of work–life balance. *Management*, *5*, 331–342. Retrieved from http://www.fm-kp.si/zalozba/ISSN/1854-4231.htm
- Downes, C., & Koekemoer, E. (2012). Work–life balance policies: The use of flexitime.

 Journal of Psychology in Africa, 22, 201–208.

 doi:10.1080/14330237.2012.10820518
- Drew, J. (2013). How to open new doors by closing your office. *Journal of Accountancy*, 216(1), 24–42. Retrieved from http://www.journalofaccountancy.com/
- Dutcher, E. G. (2012). The effects of telecommuting on productivity: An experimental examination. The role of dull and creative tasks. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 84, 355–363. doi:10.1016/j.jebo.2012.04.009
- Ellison, J. K. (2012). Ergonomics for telecommuters and other remote workers.

 *Professional Safety, 57(6), 86–90. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/professional-safety
- Elsbach, K., & Cable, D. (2012). Why showing your face at work matters. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 53, 10–12. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/

- Eng, W., Moore, S., Grunberg, L., Greenberg, E., & Sikora, P. (2010). What influences work-family conflict? The function of work support and working from home. *Current Psychology*, 29, 104–120. doi:10.1007/s12144-010-9075-9
- Evans, A. M., Carney, J. S., & Wilkinson, M. (2013). Work–life balance for men:

 Counseling implications. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 436–441.

 doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00115.x
- Fonner, K. L., & Stache, L.C. (2012). All in a day's work at home: Teleworkers' management of micro role transitions and the work-home boundary. *New Technology, Work & Employment*, 27, 242–257. doi:10.1111/j.1468-005X.2012.00290.x
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184–194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Galea, C., Houkes, I., & De Rijk, A. (2014). An insider's point of view: How a system of flexible working hours helps employees to strike a proper balance between work and personal life. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 25, 1090–1111. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.816862
- Ghiyoung, I. (2014). Effects of cognitive and social factors on system utilization and performance outcomes. *Information and Management*, *51*, 129–137. doi:10.1016/j.im.2013.10.002
- Giberson, T., & Miklos, S. (2013). Weighing in on telecommuting. *TIP: The Industrial-Organizational Psychologist*, *51*, 163–166. Retrieved from

- http://www.siop.org/tip/
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20(1), 18–29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Goodman, E. (2013). Telecommuting: Is it right for you and your business? *Journal of Property Management*, 78(4), 16–20. Retrieved from http://www.irem.org/resources/jpm
- Greer, T.W., & Payne, S.C. (2014). Overcoming telework challenges: Outcome of successful telework strategies. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *17*, 87–111. doi:10.1037/mgr0000014
- Groenewald, T. (2004). A phenomenological research design illustrated. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *3*, 42–55. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/IJQM/
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. L. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Sage handbook of qualitative research (pp. 105–117). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*, 59–82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, R. F. (2011). *Doing case study research: A practical guide* for beginning researchers (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hauff, S., Richter, N., & Tressin, T. (2015). Situational job characteristics and job

- satisfaction: The moderating role of national culture. *International Business Review*. Retrieved from www.elsevier.com doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2015.01.003
- Hayman, J. (2010). Flexible work schedules and employee well-being. *New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations*, *35*, 76–87. Retrieved from http://www.nzjournal.org
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (1959). *The motivation to work*. New York, NY/ London, England: Wiley.
- Hill, E. J., Ferris, M., & Märtinson, V. (2013). Does it matter where you work? A comparison of how three work venues (traditional office, virtual office, and home office) influence aspects of work and personal/family life. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 63, 220–241. doi:10.1016/S0001-8791(03)00042-3
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 7–12. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hubers, C., Schwanan, T., & Dijst, M. (2011). Coordinating everyday life in the Netherlands: A holistic quantitative approach to the analysis of ICT-related and other work–life balance strategies. *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography*, 93, 57–80. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0467.2011.00361.x
- Ivey, J. (2012). The value of qualitative research methods. *Pediatric Nursing*, *38*, 319–344. Retrieved from http://www.pediatricnursing.org
- Jang, C.-Y. (2013). Facilitating trust in virtual teams: The role of awareness. *Advances in Competitiveness Research*, 21(1/2), 61–77. Retrieved from

- http://www.eberly.iup.edu/ASCWeb/journals_acr.html
- Jang, S. J., Zippay, A., & Park, R. (2012). Family roles as moderators of the relationship between schedule flexibility and stress. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 74, 897– 912. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.00984.x
- Jogulu, U., & Wood, G. (2011). Women managers' career progression: An Asia pacific perspective. Gender in Management, 26, 590–603.
 doi:10.1108/17542411111183893
- Julien, M., Somerville, K., & Culp, N. (2011). Going beyond the work arrangement: The crucial role of supervisor support. *Public Administration Quarterly*, *35*, 167–204. Retrieved from http://www.spaef.com/paq.php
- Kazemi, A., Shaemi, A., & Vakili, M. (2011). An analysis of the relationship between participation in telework with organizational commitment. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 3, 85–92. Retrieved from http://www.ijcrb.com/
- Khan, S. A., & Agha, K. (2013). Dynamics of the work life balance at the firm level:

 Issues and challenges. *Journal of Management Policy & Practice*, *14*, 103–114.

 Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmppopen.html
- Ko, J., Hur, S., & Smith-Walter, A. (2013). Family-friendly work practices and job satisfaction and organizational performance: Moderating effects of managerial support and performance-oriented management. *Public Personnel Management*, 42, 545–565. doi:10.1177/0091026013505503
- Kojo, I. I., & Nenonen, S. (2015). Places for multi-locational work opportunities for

- facilities management. Facilities, 33, 20–37. doi:10.1108/F-05-2013-0043
- Konrad, A. M., & Yang, Y. (2012). Is using work–life interface benefits a career-limiting move? An examination of women, men, lone parents, and parents with partners.

 **Journal of Organizational Behavior, 33, 1095–1119. doi:10.1002/job.1782*
- Kowsalyadevi, S., & Kumar, N. S. (2013). Balancing work and life in textile industry at Perundurai Tamilnadu. *Asian Journal of Research in Business Economics & Management*, *3*, 180–190. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx
- Kumar, H., & Chakraborty, S. (2013). Work–life balance (WLB): A key to organizational efficacy. *Aweshkar Research Journal*, *15*(1), 62–70. Retrieved from http://welingkar.org/Corporates/reserchJournalAweshkar.asp?br=5§ion=A
- Lahamar, N., Glass, N., Perrin, N., Hanson, G., & Anger, K. (2013). A training intervention for supervisors to support a work–life policy implementation. *Safety and Health at Work*, *4*, 166–176. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2013.07.001
- Lathois, P. (2011). Healthy workplace pays dividends. *Charter*, 82(9), 46–47. Retrieved from http://www.charteredaccountants.com.au/
- Lockwood, J. (2015). Virtual team management: what is causing communication breakdown? *Language & Intercultural Communication*, 15, 125–140. doi:10.1080/14708477.2014.985310
- Mamaghani, F. (2012). Impact of telecommuting on organization productivity. *European Journal of Management*, 12, 175–182. Retrieved from http://www.iabe.org/domains/iabeX/journal.aspx?journalid=14

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martin, B. H., & MacDonnell, R. (2012). Is telework effective for organizations? A metaanalysis of empirical research on perceptions of telework and organizational outcomes. *Management Research Review*, 35, 602–616. doi:10.1108/01409171211238820
- Maruyama, T., & Tietze, S. (2012). From anxiety to assurance: Concerns and outcomes of telework. *Personnel Review*, 41, 450–469. doi:10.1108/00483481211229375
- McMillan, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2005). *Research in education: Evidence-based inquiry* (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson/Allyn and Bacon.
- McNall, L. A., Masuda, A. D., & Nicklin, J. M. (2010). Flexible work arrangements, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions: The mediating role of work-to-family enrichment. *The Journal of Psychology*, *144*, 61–81. doi:10.1080/00223980903356073
- Md-Sidin, S., Sambasivan, M., & Ismail, I. (2010). Relationship between work-family conflict and quality of life: An investigation into the role of social support.

 Journal of Managerial Psychology, 25, 58–81.

 doi:10.1108/02683941011013876
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mofoluwake, A. P., & Oluremi, A. H. (2013). Job satisfaction, organizational stress and employee performance: A study of NAPIMS. *Ife Psychologia*, 21, 75–82.

- Retrieved from http://www.ifepsychologia.org/content/ife-psychologia
- Mohammadi, H., & Shahrabi, M. A. (2013). A study on relationship between quality of work life and job satisfaction. *Management Science Letters*, *3*, 2675–2680. doi:10.5267/j.msl.2013.08.034
- Montero-Marín, J., Carrasco, J. M., Roca, M., Serrano-Blanco, A., Gili, M., Mayoral, F., . . . & García-Campayo, J. (2013). Expectations, experiences and attitudes of patients and primary care health professionals regarding online psychotherapeutic interventions for depression: Protocol for a qualitative study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 13(1), 64–79. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-13-64
- Morganson, V. J., Major, D. A., Oborn, K. L., Verive, J. M., & Heelan, M. P. (2010).
 Comparing telework locations and traditional work arrangements: Differences in work–life balance support, job satisfaction, and inclusion. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 25, 578–595. doi:10.1108/02683941011056941
- Moser, K. S., & Axtell, C. M. (2013). The role of norms in virtual work: A review and agenda for future research. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *12*, 1–6. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000079
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mulki, J., Bardhi, F., Lassk, F., & Nanavaty-Dahl, J. (2009). Set up remote workers to thrive. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *51*(1), 63–69. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Mušura, A., Korican, M., & Krajnovic, S. (2013). Work–life and life-work conflicting Croatian companies: Some perspectives. *International Journal of Organization*

- *Theory & Behavior*, *16*, 42–67. Retrieved from http://www.pracademics.com/ijotb.html
- Nadler, J. T., Cundiff, N. L., Lowery, M. R., & Jackson, S. (2010). Perceptions of organizational attractiveness: The differential relationships of various work schedule flexibility programs. *Management Research Review*, 33, 865–876. doi:10.1108/01409171011070297
- Naithani, P. (2010). Overview of work–life balance discourse and its relevance in current economic scenario. *Asian Social Science*, *6*, 148–155. Retrieved from doi:10.5539/ass.v6n6p148
- Nicklin, J. M., & McNall, L. A. (2013). Work-family enrichment, support, and satisfaction: A test of mediation. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 22, 67–77. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2011.616652
- Nieminen, L. R. G., Nicklin, J. M., McClure, T. K., & Chakrabarti, M. (2011). Meta-analytic decisions and reliability: A serendipitous case of three independent telecommuting meta-analyses. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 26, 105–121. doi:10.1007/s10869-010-9185
- Noonan, M., & Glass, J. (2012, June). *The hard truth about telecommuting* (pp. 38–45). Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2012/06/art3full.pdf
- Odle-Dusseau, H. N., Britt, T. W., & Bobko, P. (2012). Work-family balance, well-being, and organizational outcomes: Investigating actual versus desired work/family time discrepancies. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 27, 331–343. doi:10.1007/s10869-011-9246-1

- Ojala, S., Nätti, J., & Anttila, T. (2014). Informal overtime at home instead of telework:

 Increase in negative work-family interface. *The International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, *34*, 69–87.

 doi:10.1108.IJSSP-03-2013-0037
- Olariu, C., & Aldea, C. (2014). Managing processes for virtual teams A BPM approach.

 *Procedia- Social and Behaviorial Sciences, 109, 380–384.

 doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.476
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pawar, I. A. (2013). Quality work–life and job satisfaction of employees in VTPS.

 *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews, 3, 2547–2556.

 *Retrieved from http://imjrr.com/
- Perrone, K. M., Wright, S. L., & Jackson, Z. V. (2009). Traditional and non-traditional gender roles and work-family interface for men and women. *Journal of Career Development*, *36*, 8–24. doi:10.1177/0894845308327736
- Phipps, S. T., Prieto, L. C., & Ndinguri, E. N. (2013). Understanding the impact of employee involvement on organizational productivity: The moderating role of organizational commitment. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communications* & *Conflict*, 17, 107–120. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=11
- Piotrowski, C. S. (1979). Work and the family system: A naturalistic study of workingclass and lower-middle-class families. New York, NY: Free Press.

- Pleck, J. H. (1977). The work-family role system. *Social Problems*, 24, 417–427. doi:10.1525/sp.1977.24.4.03a00040
- Pollock, K. (2012). Procedure versus process: Ethical paradigms and the conduct of qualitative research. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *13*(1), 25–31. doi:10.1186/1472-6939-13-25
- Purvanova, R. K. (2014). Face-to-face versus virtual teams: What have we really learned? *Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 17(1), 2–29. doi:10.1037/mgr0000009
- Pyöriä, P. (2011). Managing telework: Risks, fears and rules. *Management Research Review*, 34, 386–399. doi:10.1108/01409171111117843
- Rama Devi, V., & Nagini, A. (2013). Work–life balance and burnout as predictors of job satisfaction in private banking sector. *Skyline Business Journal*, 9(1), 50–53.

 Retrieved from http://www.skylinesbj.com/
- Richardson, J. (2010). Managing flexworkers: Holding on and letting go. *The Journal of Management Development*, 29, 137–147. doi:10.1108/02621711011019279
- Rocereto, J. F., Gupta, S. F., & Mosca, J. B. (2011). The role of flextime appeal on family and work outcomes among active and non-active flextime users: A between groups and within groups analysis. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, *9*(3), 57–65. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/JBER
- Rodriguez, S. (2013). Workforce solutions review: Use workforce technology for a mobile worker program that rocks. *Workforce Solutions Review*, 4(5), 28–29. Retrieved from http://www.ihrimpublications.com/

- Sathyanarayara Rao, T. S., & Indla, V. (2010). Work, family or personal life: Why not all three? *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 52, 295–297. doi:10.4103/0019-5545.74301
- Sayah, S., & Suess, S. (2013). Conflict between work and life: The case of contract workers in the German IT and media sectors. *Management Revue*, 24, 222–244. doi:10.1688/1861-9908_mrev_2013_03_Sayah
- Schneider, B. (2011). The human face of workplace flexibility. *American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 638, 103–122. doi:10.1177/0002716211415824
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Staines, G. L. (1980). Spillover versus compensation: A review of the literature on the relationship between work and nonwork. *Human Relations*, *33*, 111–129. doi:10.1177/001872678003300203
- Stout, M. S., Awad, G., & Guzmán, M. (2013). Exploring managers' attitudes toward work/family programs in the private sector. *Psychologist-Manager Journal*, *16*, 176–195. doi:10.1037/mgr0000005
- Thomas, J. R., Nelson, J. K., & Silverman, S. J. (2011). *Research methods in physical activity* (6th ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Tremblay, D.-G., & Thomsin, L. (2012). Telework and mobile working: Analysis of its benefits and drawbacks. *International Journal of Work Innovation*, *1*, 100–113. doi:10.1504/IJWI.2012.047995
- Turner, D. W., III. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A practical guide for novice investigators. *Qualitative Report*, *15*, 754–760. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR15-3

- Tuttle, R., & Garr, M. (2012). Shift work and work to family fit: Does schedule control matter? *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, *33*, 261–271. doi:10.1007/s10834-012-9283-6
- Ueda, Y. (2012). The effects of the perception of work–life balance on acceptance of work arrangement requests. *International Business Research*, 5(8), 24–32. doi:10.5539/ibr.v5n8p24
- Valoura, L. (2013). Time–space flexibility and work: Analyzing the "anywhere and anytime office" in the entertainment, new media, and arts sector. *Culture Unbound: Journal of Current Cultural Research*, 5, 339–360. doi:10.3384/cu.2000.1525.135339
- Van der Berg, Y., & Martins, N. (2013). The relationship between organisational trust and quality of work life (original research). *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 11(1), 1–13. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v11i1.392
- Veeramani, G., & Gayathri, R. (2013). A conceptual study on implication of quality work life (QWL) in human resource management. *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews*, 3, 3949–3953. Retrieved from http://ijmrr.com
- Verma, M. D., & Mangaraj, S. (2012). Work–life balance problems and solutions: A study on Jindal Steel Ltd. *Siddhant—A Journal of Decision Making*, *12*, 61–68. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx
- Waumsley, J. A., Houston, D. M., & Marks, G. (2010). What about us? Measuring the work–life balance of people who do not have children. *Review of European*

- Studies, 2(2), 3–17. doi:10.5539/res.v2n2p3
- Wickramasinghe, V. (2012). Supervisor support as a moderator between work schedule flexibility and job stress. *International Journal of Workplace Health*Management, 5, 44–55. doi:10.1108/17538351211215384
- Yin, R. K. (2003). *Case study research: Design and methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yuile, C., Chang, A., Gudmundsson, A., & Sawang, S. (2012). The role of life friendly policies on employees' work–life balance. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 18, 53–63. doi:10.5172/jmo.2012.18.1.53

Appendix A: Certificate of Ethical Compliance



Appendix B: Invitation to Participate in Research Forms

In-Depth Interviews- Invitation to Participate in Business Research Greetings Mr. or Mrs. XXX,

I am a doctoral student at Walden University pursing a Doctorate of Business Administration degree. You are invited to voluntarily take part in a research study that focuses on exploring the perceptions and lived experiences of lower- to middle-level managers regarding flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity. The purpose of this study is to is to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. The study conduct procedures include a series of interviews with low to midlevel managers. Your name or any other information that could personally identify you will not be included in any reports of the study.

If you are interested in participating in the study, please refer to the attached 'informed consent' form. This document provides detailed information to help you understand the study conduct procedures and better assist you in your own personal decision whether to participate. Walden University's approval number for this study is 11-24-14-0167383 and it expires on November 23, 2015. After reviewing the attached consent form, if you are agreeable to participate in this research, please reply to this e-mail with the words "I consent." By doing so, you are agreeing to voluntarily participate in the study. Please feel free to e-mail me if you have any questions or would like additional information. Please respond at your earliest convenience indicating your decision. I sincerely appreciate your time!

Respectfully,

Kelley

Kelley M. Campbell

Doctorate of Business Administration Candidate

Focus Group- Invitation to Participate in Business Research

Greetings Mr. or Mrs. XXX,

I am a doctoral student at Walden University pursing a Doctorate of Business Administration degree. You are invited to voluntarily take part in a research study that focuses on exploring the perceptions and lived experiences of company employees regarding flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity. The purpose of this study is to is to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. You are being invited to participate in a focus group session of 6-8 employees, to voice your present and past experiences pertaining to flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. A focus group is a form of research in which a group of people are asked questions about their personal perceptions, opinions or beliefs about a particular topic in an interactive group setting. Your name or any other information that could personally identify you will not be included in any reports of the study.

If you are interested in participating in the study, please refer to the attached 'informed consent' form. This document provides detailed information to help you understand the study conduct procedures and better assist you in your own personal decision whether to participate. Walden University's approval number for this study is 11-24-14-0167383 and it expires on November 23, 2015. After reviewing the attached consent form, if you are agreeable to participate in this research, please reply to this e-mail with the words "I consent." By doing so, you are agreeing to voluntarily participate in the study. Please feel free to e-mail me if you have any questions or would like

additional information. Please respond at your earliest convenience indicating your decision. I sincerely appreciate your time!

Respectfully,

Kelley

Kelley M. Campbell

Doctorate of Business Administration Candidate

Appendix C: Consent Forms

In-Depth Interviews- Research Informed Consent Document

You are invited to take part in a research study that focuses on exploring the perceptions and lived experiences of lower- to middle-level managers regarding flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity. You were chosen for this study because you are a lower- to middle-level manager, employed at a company that offers relevant work—life benefit programs and possess the required experience. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to participate. The study is being conducted by Kelley M. Campbell, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information

The purpose of this study is to is to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Procedures

If you agree to be part of this study, you will be asked to:

- Participate in a series of (3) audio recorded, face-to-face interviews, each lasting
 no more than 1 hour in duration
 - o Interview #1 will include a series of 10 open-ended questions
 - Interview #2 will be a 'follow-up' opportunity for you to provide any
 additional information you may have thought of after interview #1
 - o Interview #3 will provide you with the opportunity to review final study reports for interpretation accuracy and feedback (this occurs after my

analysis and interpretation of the data you have provided)

Voluntary Nature of the Study

Your participation in this study is absolutely voluntary. This means that everyone will respect your decision whether or not you choose to participate in the study. No one will penalize you if you decide not to participate in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you are at liberty to opt out if you change your mind at any point throughout the duration of the study. You may choose to stop at any time if you feel stressed during the study, and you may respectfully decline any question(s) that you are not comfortable answering.

Risk and Benefits of Study Participation

Given the nature of the study, the possibility of participants experiencing any harm is extremely minimal as the study focuses only on examining the lived experiences and perceptions of participants, and no confidential information or trade secrets will be sought. The potential benefit of being in the study is your contribution to an enlightened view of the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Compensation

No compensation will be given to participants in the study.

Confidentiality and Privacy

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not

use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. The researcher will not include your name or any other information that could personally identify you in any reports of the study. However, if any illegal activities are disclosed, I will need to report those to the proper authorities.

Contacts and Questions

You may contact the researcher via e-mail at **Kelley.campbell@waldenu.edu** or via telephone at xxx.xxx.xxxx if you have any questions pertaining to this study. If you wish to privately discuss your rights as a research participant, you may call the Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at +X-XXX-XXXX ext. XX from within the United States or e-mail XXX@XXXX. Walden University's approval number for this study is 11-24-14-0167383 and it expires on **November 23, 2015**. The researcher, Kelley M. Campbell, will provide you a copy of this form to retain for your records.

Statement of Consent

I have read and sufficiently understood the above information, my role as a research participant, and the purpose of the study to make an informed decision about my participation. By replying to this e-mail with the words "I consent," I am agreeing to participate in the study.

Focus Group- Research Informed Consent Document

You are invited to take part in a research study that focuses on exploring the perceptions and lived experiences of employees regarding flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity. You were chosen for this study because you are employed at a company that offers relevant work—life benefit programs and possess the required experience. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before personally deciding whether to participate. The study is being conducted by Kelley M. Campbell, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information

The purpose of this study is to is to ascertain the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. You are being invited to participate in a focus group of 6-8 employees, to voice your present and past experiences pertaining to flexible work schedules and virtual work programs. A focus group is a form of research in which a group of people are asked questions about their personal perceptions, opinions or beliefs about a particular topic, in an interactive group setting. The rationale for a focus group is the group dynamic that it brings stimulating conversations, which leads to exploration, discovery, depth, and direction.

Procedures

If you agree to be part of this study, you will be asked to:

 Participate in one audio recorded, face-to-face focus group session lasting no more than 2 hours in duration

- o Collectively, the group will be asked a series of 10 open-ended questions
- o Data and mediator notes will be captured on a flip chart
- The group participants will spend the last portion of the interview reviewing the information documented on the flip chart, as well as synthesizing any common themes that emerge as they relate to the interview questions

Voluntary Nature of the Study

Your participation in this study is absolutely voluntary. This means that everyone will respect your decision whether or not you choose to participate in the study. No one will penalize you if you decide not to participate in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you are at liberty to opt out if you change your mind at any point throughout the duration of the study. You may choose to stop at any time if you feel stressed during the study, and you may respectfully decline any question(s) that you are not comfortable answering.

Risk and Benefits of Study Participation

Given the nature of the study, the possibility of participants experiencing any harm is extremely minimal as the study focuses only on examining the lived experiences and perceptions of participants, and no confidential information or trade secrets will be sought. The potential benefit of being in the study is your contribution to an enlightened view of the strategies that business leaders use for flexible work schedules and virtual work programs.

Compensation

No compensation will be given to participants in the study.

Confidentiality and Privacy

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. The researcher will not include your name or any other information that could personally identify you in any reports of the study. However, if any illegal activities are disclosed, I will need to report those to the proper authorities.

Contacts and Questions

You may contact the researcher via e-mail at Kelley.campbell@waldenu.edu or via telephone xxx.xxx.xxxx if you have any questions pertaining to this study. If you wish to privately discuss your rights as a research participant, you may call the Walden University's Research Participant Advocate at +X-XXX-XXXX-XXXX ext. XX from within the United States or e-mail XXX@XXXX. Walden University's approval number for this study is 11-24-14-0167383 and it expires on November 23, 2015. The researcher, Kelley M. Campbell, will provide you a copy of this form to retain for your records.

Statement of Consent

I have read and sufficiently understood the above information, my role as a research participant, and the purpose of the study to make an informed decision about my participation. By replying to this e-mail with the words "I consent," I am agreeing to participate in the study.

Appendix D: Interview Protocol

Interview Title: Exploring the perceptions and lived experiences of low-mid level managers and associate employees regarding flexible work schedules, virtual work programs, and employee productivity

- 1. The interview session will commence with greetings and introductions.
- 2. The study participants will have previously read the informed consent form and provided their consent via e-mail, agreeing to participate in the research. I will thank the participant for their agreement to participate in the research study. I will also provide information regarding the member checking process that will follow the transcription and interpretation of the data. Following transcript interpretation, I will schedule time with the interview participants for member checking procedures to assist with ensuring the reliability and validity of the data.
- 3. The participant will be given a hard copy print out of the informed consent letter for their records.
- 4. I will turn on the audio recorder and I will note the date, time, and location.
- 5. I will indicate the coded sequential representation of the participant's name e.g., 'respondent R01' on the audio recording, documented on my copy of the consent form and the interview will begin.
- 6. Each participant will be given the required time to fully answer each predetermined interview question in detail (including any additional followup/probing questions).
- 7. At the close of the interview, I will thank each research participant for their time

and participation in the study.

Appendix E: Interview Questions

In-Depth Interview Questions (for Managers)

- 1. What strategies have you used for implementing flexible work schedules?
- 2. What strategies have you used for implementing virtual work program policies?
- 3. What productivity challenges occurred when your employees began working flexible work schedules?
- 4. What productivity challenges occurred when your employees began working in a virtual environment?
- 5. What suggestions do you have for improving virtual work productivity?
- 6. What are your experiences on how flexible work schedule programs affect job satisfaction?
- 7. What are your experiences on how virtual work programs affect job satisfaction?
- 8. What are your experiences on flexible time–space workplace policies and blurred boundaries between work and home life?
- 9. What additional information would you like to add about flexible work schedules?
- 10. What additional information would you like to add about working virtually?

Focus Group Questions (for Employee Focus Group)

- 1. How has participating in a flexible work schedule negatively affected your productivity?
- 2. How has participating in a flexible work schedule positively affected your productivity?
- 3. How has participating in a virtual work program negatively affected your productivity?
- 4. How has participating in a virtual work program positively affected your productivity?
- 5. What have you experienced regarding flexible time—space workplace policies and blurred boundaries between work and home life?
- 6. What tools enable your productivity the least when working virtually?
- 7. What technical issues have you experienced while working virtually?
- 8. How have these technical issues affected your virtual work?
- 9. What additional information would you like to add about flexible work schedules?
- 10. What information would you like to add about working virtually?

Appendix F: Confidentiality Agreement

Name of Signer: XXX

During the course of my activity in collecting data for this research: "Flexible Work Schedules, Virtual Work Programs, and Employee Productivity" I will have access to information, which is confidential and should not be disclosed. I acknowledge that the information must remain confidential, and that improper disclosure of confidential information can be damaging to the participant.

By signing this Confidentiality Agreement, I acknowledge and agree that:

- I will not disclose or discuss any confidential information with others, including friends or family.
- 2. I will not in any way divulge, copy, release, sell, loan, alter or destroy any confidential information except as properly authorized.
- 3. I will not discuss confidential information where others can overhear the conversation. I understand that it is not acceptable to discuss confidential information even if the participant's name is not used.
- 4. I will not make any unauthorized transmissions, inquiries, modification or purging of confidential information.
- 5. I agree that my obligations under this agreement will continue after termination of the job that I will perform.
- 6. I understand that violation of this agreement will have legal implications.
- 7. I will only access or use systems or devices I'm officially authorized to access and I will not demonstrate the operation or function of systems or devices to unauthorized

individuals.	
Signing this document, I acknowledge that I have read	d the agreement and I agree to
comply with all the terms and conditions stated above.	
Signature:	Date:
	· · · ·